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4 | Silver Heritage Group

SILVER HERITAGE IS AN 
EXPERIENCED REGIONAL 
GAMING GROUP THAT OWNS, 
OPERATES AND MANAGES 
CASINOS IN NEPAL (UNDER ITS 
OWN LICENCE) AND IN VIETNAM 
(IN PARTNERSHIP WITH A LICENCE 
HOLDER). 

Operating across Asia for more than a 
decade, Silver Heritage brings best-in-
class gaming operations to emerging 
gaming markets that are witnessing 
significant growth in gaming due to 
rising income levels and liberalisation of 
gaming regulations and rapid growth 
of outbound Chinese and Indian 
tourism. 

Silver Heritage has built and opened 
South Asia’s first Integrated Resort, Tiger 
Palace Resort Bhairahawa, in Nepal 
close to the border with India’s most 
populous state, Uttar Pradesh. 

Tiger Palace Resort / Casino Main Floor
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14
YEARS OPERATING 

HISTORY

2
CASINOS  

MANAGED

1
INTEGRATED CASINO 
RESORT OWNED AND 

OPERATED

74
LIVE CASINO TABLES 

IN OPERATIONS

348
ELECTRONIC  

GAMING MACHINES 
IN OPERATIONS
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6 | Silver Heritage Group

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS, LADIES AND 
GENTLEMEN,

When I addressed you at the May 2017 Annual 
General Meeting, the outlook for Silver Heritage 
Group Limited was, to say the least, problematic. The 
construction of our flagship Integrated Resort, Tiger 
Palace, had encountered significant overruns, both in 
time and budget. We faced a funding gap of around 
A$19m, and the company’s shares had then been in a 
trading halt for 2 months while management and the 
Board identified and assessed the options available 
to finance the shortfall. I said at the time that it would 
have been easier to find a way out than a way to 
complete and open the property. While there was no 
obvious “best” solution to our challenge, and certainly 
none that would satisfy everyone, we were gratified by 
the support we received from shareholders when we 
embarked upon an entitlements issue in July 2017. That 
issue was fully underwritten, and we were also able to 
welcome new shareholders as part of the capital raise, 
one which provided the funding required to complete 
and open Tiger Palace, albeit that the hotel opened 
some 6 months behind the original schedule, and the 
casino almost 9 months late. Importantly, securing 

the finance enabled the resumption of trading in the 
company’s shares. 

There have been a number of direct consequences of 
the delay encountered in opening Tiger Palace, and 
in particular the casino. First, the company’s results for 
2017 were significantly impacted and fell well short 
of our expectations. There was no accretive earnings 
contribution from the casino at Tiger Palace, which 
opened 28 December 2017, or indeed the hotel, which 
opened to paying guests in September, but was unable 
to host casino patrons until the end of the year. Secondly, 
we have incurred non-cash impairments and asset 
write-offs totaling some US$6.86 million. These non-cash 
impairments represent the application of the Australian 
Accounting Standards, which govern the company’s 
financial reporting. The inherently conservative nature 
of the Standards ensures that in any situation in which 
the underlying value of assets may be in question, the 
accounts will always reflect a “glass half empty” view. Of 
itself, that is not necessarily a bad thing, provided it does 
not taint perceptions of the company’s prospects going 
forward. Certainly your Board remains optimistic about the 
outlook and prospects for the company in Nepal.

Aside from our well-ventilated issues in funding during 
2017 and completing and opening Tiger Palace, we have 
also faced unexpected and unfounded hostile action by 
one of our local partners in Nepal, Mr. Rajendra Bajgain. 
The group’s casino licences in Nepal are required to be 
held in a vehicle in which there is some local ownership 
participation. Silver Heritage Management Services 
Kathmandu Pvt. Ltd. (“SHMK”) holds the licences for 
both The Millionaires Club and Casino, Kathmandu, and 
the casino within Tiger Palace. SHMK is owned as to 90% 
by Silver Heritage Group Limited, and as to 5% each by 
Rajendra Bajgain and his brother, Nabaraj Bajgain. Action 
is currently being taken to remove Rajendra Bajgain as 
both Chairman and a director of SHMK. Mr. Rajendra 
Bajgain was also retained as a consultant to the group, 
and was instrumental in assisting it to obtain both the 5 
star hotel accreditation, and the casino licence for Tiger 
Palace.

For reasons known only to Mr. Bajgain, after the opening 
of the Tiger Palace casino, he embarked on a series of 
actions apparently calculated to bring the group into 
disrepute in Nepal, and to frustrate its operations at 
Tiger Palace. Mr. Bajgain’s consultancy agreement was 
terminated for alleged multiple breaches of its terms on 
21 February 2018. He was removed as a Director of the 
holding company, Silver Heritage Investment Private 
Limited (“SHIPL”) in February 2018. The company has 
attempted to negotiate a settlement with Mr. Bajgain, but 
his unwillingness to cease and desist, and the quantum 
of his unfounded and unreasonable claims against the 
group have to date frustrated settlement discussions. The 
company will pursue all avenues open to conclude this 
unfortunate matter, including seeking such legal remedies 

David Green
Independent Chairman and 
Non-Executive Director
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Silver Heritage Group has now invested more than 
US$60m (A$75m) in its Nepal strategy, and it employs 
over 1,000 Nepali citizens. 

OUR VALUES

COMPLIANCE PERFORMANCE INTEGRITY QUALITY DISCIPLINE

as may reasonably be available to it, based upon advice 
from its advisors in Nepal. 

On a more positive note, it is pleasing to note reported 
comments of the incoming Prime Minister of Nepal Mr. 
KP Sharma Oli, who took office on 15 February 2018, 
that facilitation of foreign direct investment into Nepal, 
and the elimination of corruption are two objectives of 
his administration. The Silver Heritage Group has now 
invested more than US$60m (A$75m) in its Nepal strategy, 
and it employs over 1,000 Nepali citizens. We are one of 
the largest private sector foreign investors in the country, 
a position we expect to enhance with further future 
investment when our resources permit. The burgeoning 
tourism industry in Nepal, its strategic location between 
China and India, and the improving infrastructure within 
the country gives us confidence that we have made the 
right investment decisions. We look forward to working 
with the new government to assist it to advance its 
agenda.

Turning to our other operations, the results generated 
by the Phoenix International Club in Bac Ninh, Vietnam, 
are pleasing and reflect the Silver Heritage Group’s core 
competency. We manage the casino at the property, 
and share revenue and some costs with the local licence 
holder. The addition of 3 direct-play VIP tables during 
2017, together with the enhancement of the hotel which 
hosts the casino, has generated additional traffic and 
spend at the casino. Bac Ninh is a thriving light industrial 
city about 45 minutes outside of the capital Hanoi, and is 
home to what is believed to be the world’s largest mobile 
phone factory, operated by Samsung. Further substantial 
foreign investment into the area is expected, including 
additional facilities for Samsung. Since locals are presently 
not allowed to enter the casino, foreign passport holders 
are the key to the continuing success of the property. 
The Board held its January Board Meeting  in Bac Ninh 
on January 22, 2018 and saw firsthand the remarkable 
economic progress happening in and around Bac Ninh, 
as well as in and around the cities of Hoi An and Da Nang 
in Central Vietnam. We expect the casino industry in 
Vietnam to continue its current upward trajectory, and we 
are delighted to be part of it.

The Millionaires Club and Casino in Kathmandu (“TMCCK”) 
continues to face challenges, from poor compliance by its 
competitors, to new competitors, and a host property which 
does not provide the optimal layout for a contemporary 
casino, being spread over 3 floors. Our results are volatile, 
and heavily influenced by a relative handful of premium 
players. I expect that the Board will undertake a review 
of the operations at TMCCK and consider the future of 
operations there over the next 6 to 12 months. What is 
incontrovertible is that the property has enabled us to 
establish a brand presence in Kathmandu, to establish the 
highest level of corporate citizenship, and to train a team of 
highly competent casino staff, some of whom we expect to 
offer further career opportunities at Tiger Palace. 

Our challenge in the year ahead is to complete the 
ramp up of Tiger Palace, and to reduce the cost of our 
debt. Both our Tiger Palace operations team, and our 
Head Office Finance team have new leadership. The 
most recent addition to the Senior Management team 
in Nepal is Dr. Rabindra Karna who joined as Group 
Human Resources Director - Nepal, a Nepalese citizen 
with both local (most recent experience with Hyatt 
Regency Kathmandu) and International experience. 
We are also fortunate to have recruited Mr. Brett Model 
as General Manager, Hotel Operations, and Mr. Kevin 
Willcocks, General Manager, Casino Operations, at Tiger 
Palace. Our Chief Financial Officer, Basil Jong, joined us 
in November 2017, and is already making a significant 
contribution to our organization.

It remains for me to thank our Chief Executive Officer, 
Mike Bolsover, for his application and commitment to 
his role. You, our shareholders, also deserve our thanks 
for your support and understanding. I expect that to be 
more tangibly rewarded over the coming year as we 
consolidate and grow our business. Finally, thank you 
to the many good people who work within the Silver 
Heritage Group; may we continue the journey together.

David Green 
Chairman
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8 | Silver Heritage Group

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CEO’S REPORT

DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

I am pleased to present the second annual report for your 
company, Silver Heritage Group Limited.

During the financial year 2017 the Group completed and 
opened its first Integrated Resort, Tiger Palace Resort 
Bhairahawa, in Nepal. As you know, the Company 
required additional capital to do so and we successfully 
raised A$19m in July 2017. This process was only possible 
with the support of our shareholders - old and new, an 
excellent and committed management team, and 
the guidance of the Board. I must also recognize the 
dedication and support of all of our employees across 
the Group, and in addition the dedication and hard work 
of Titus Holdings and their project managers and other 

employees who stepped in to help us complete and open 
Tiger Palace prior to the year end, as we undertook to do 
at the time of the Entitlement Offer.

The Group also had a very strong year of revenue growth 
from its operations at Phoenix International Club, in 
Bac Ninh, Vietnam just 40 minutes from Hanoi’s Noibai 
International airport and within an hour’s drive of Hanoi’s 
city centre, whilst the performance at The Millionaire’s 
Club in Kathmandu has been challenging.

Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa is the first integrated resort 
in South Asia, and is located in the flatlands of the Terai in 
Southern Nepal, close to the Indian border and between 
two UNESCO World Heritage sites: Lumbini - the birthplace 
of Lord Buddha, and Chitwan National Park - home to 
Black Rhino, Tiger, and Elephant. Both of these are high-
traffic, established tourism areas.

The Resort is designed to capitalize on the positive 
demographic trends, increasing disposable income, and 
growing demand for entertainment in India, specifically 
in Northern India between Delhi and Kolkata, whose 3 
states, and Delhi, boast over 430 million Indian citizens. 
The Resort’s location just 15 minutes drive from Gautam 
Buddha Airport sets it up well for the medium to long term 
too, as that airport will become a fully international airport 
(only Nepal’s second) in 2019, thereby bringing visitors 
direct from major Indian cities, and also from further afield 
in China, Thailand, and the rest of Asia.

The Group’s competitive strengths include the depth 
of our operational and “frontier” markets experience, a 
track record of successful operations, and international 
standard operating, compliance, and governance 
processes. As we move into 2018 we are now in a position 
to leverage these strengths. 

The financial period to 31 December 2017 was an 
improvement on total sales and Adjusted EBITDA1 on a like 
for like basis (excluding Tiger Palace initial ramp up period) 
against the preceding year, the year of the Initial Public 
Offering. The Company’s financial performance in 2016 
was impacted by operational volatility, with our venues 
experiencing a lower than expected hold-rate (in which 
we have since seen an improvement but for TMCCK), and 
slower than expected growth in inbound tourism to Nepal. 
Market conditions have improved, though so too has the 
level of competition in 2017. We remain committed to 
delivering on our strong value proposition for customers, 
which we believe will drive a stronger performance in 
2018. We no longer have the distraction of constructing 
Tiger Palace; the focus is now on operations, a core 
competency of the Group. 

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group 
generated total Gross Gaming Revenue (‘GGR’) of 

1 Adjusted EBITDA - earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation, adjusted for impairment of assets, 
expenses incurred for future projects, one-off exceptional 
items and share based compensation expense. 

Mike Bolsover 
Managing Director and CEO

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2017 | 9

US$32.39 million
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group generated 
total Gross Gaming Revenue (‘GGR’) of US$32.39 million

US$32.39 million (up 1% on the previous year), Sales 
Revenue (GGR less partner share) of US$18.26 million 
(up 8% on the previous period), and Adjusted EBITDA of 
US$3.02 million (up 7% on the previous period on a like 
for like basis, excluding the negative cashflow during the 
ramp up of Tiger Palace).

I highlight below the performance of our two casinos 
which operated for the full year. and summarise some KPI 
details from the first 10 weeks of resort operations (post-
casino opening) at Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa.

PHOENIX INTERNATIONAL CLUB (‘PHOENIX’)

 ■ Located in Bac Ninh City, Hanoi, Vietnam

 ■ 75 hotel rooms operated by the casino licence-holder 
(with 70 new rooms opening in the 2nd quarter 2018)

 ■ 12 tables on the main gaming floor and 3 in Direct VIP, 
and 94 EGMs

 ■ Commercial relationship with our strategic partner, the 
owner of Phoenix and casino licensee, is due to run 
until at least 31 March 2025

 ■ US$6.78 million of segment profit before unallocated 
expenses in the year ended 31 December 2017 (a 
record)

 ■ Cash Return of 59% in the year ended 31 December 
2017 on aggregate invested capital of US$11.5 million 
since opening

Phoenix International 
Club, Bac Ninh, Vietnam

The casino owner completed new hotel facilities during 
FY2017 including a new restaurant, a sky bar and lounge, 
a large swimming pool, and additional hotel support 
facilities with upgraded international standard laundry 
and kitchens. We were able to expand the casino floor in 
2017 (as we had expected to do in 2016) once permission 
was granted by the casino owner, and we delivered 
growth in both patron footfall and table drop during the 
year. We will continue to work with our partner to expand 
the available gaming opportunities and to deliver strong 
cashflows.

The Government of Vietnam continues its pragmatic 
and progressive approach to developing the market in 

Vietnam, and the Board met in Vietnam in January of 
this year, during which time we spent a day in Central 
Vietnam witnessing the new investment in the casino 
and hospitality industries which has been enabled by 
Government policy. This rising tide will likely float all boats 
as the country considers allowing the participation of all 
local Vietnamese in the gaming experience in Vietnam, 
not only at the new Integrated Resorts but potentially also 
at Phoenix.

THE MILLIONAIRE’S CLUB & CASINO KATHMANDU 
(‘TMCCK’)

 ■ Located in the Shangri-La Hotel, Kathmandu, Nepal 

 ■ 100 hotel rooms, owned and operated by a third 
party, in a 5-star hotel

 ■ 15 tables on the main gaming floor and 38 EGMs, with 
3 additional VIP tables and further capacity for an 
expanded offering

 ■ The Group owns the casino licence and manages the 
entire casino

 ■ The Group leases the casino area, back of house and 
canteen until at least 2024

 ■ US$206,000 of segment profit before unallocated 
expenses in the year ended 31 December 2017

At TMCCK we experienced a challenging environment 
in generating returns due to the addition of more casinos 
in the local market, and sporadic enforcement of the 
gaming law across all of our competitors. As at Phoenix, 
the TMCCK management team delivered increases 
in footfall, although the table drop (amount of cash 
exchanged for casino chips) was only slightly improved 
on last year. There has been a recent tightening of the 
enforcement of the Casino Rules 2070 on all participants 
in the Kathmandu market, a good thing for SVH as we are 
fully compliant and at the top end among our peers in the 
country.

Generally in Nepal the number of inbound tourists from 
India, China and elsewhere continues to increase, and 
the recent election success of the Left Alliance under the 
new constitution should lead to increased stability, and an 
improved investing environment. This is already evidenced 

The Millionaire’s Club & 
Casino, Kathmandu, NepalF
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10 | Silver Heritage Group

in the significant increase in the pace of works and the 
labour deployed to build the customs and immigration 
facilities at the local domestic airport in Bhairahawa. 
Once completed in 2019, this will become Nepal’s second 
International airport.

TIGER PALACE RESORT BHAIRAHAWA  
(‘TIGER PALACE’)

We opened both the hotel and hospitality areas (20 
September 2017) and casino (28 December 2017) 
before the year end, as we undertook to do during the 
Entitlement Offer, having overcome each of the myriad 
hurdles as described in last year’s annual report and in 
announcements during 2017.

Tiger Palace Resort / 
Reception Lobby

During early 2018 we have already achieved many 
milestones, most recently hosting our 10,000th casino 
customer, just 69 days after opening (on 5 March 2018), 
and also hosting our first wedding event on a day where 
we serviced 913 covers in banqueting and F&B. We have 
had various banks, local businesses and societies including 
the Siddharthnagar Women’s Club and the Nepal Youth 
Entrepreneurs Foundation as customers of the Resort, 
and we continue to take bookings as far out as July for 
more weddings and other MICE (Meetings, Incentives, 
Conventions, and Exhibitions) events. Public holidays 
including Indian Republic Day and Holi have been sold 
out and enjoyed by guests from India and farther afield. In 
fact we have had visitors from across Asia including China, 
Thailand, and Vietnam.

The neighbouring Indian state of Uttar Pradesh with its 
population of some 215 million citizens, and the 1.32 billion 
citizens of the Republic of India are connected by road 
and by air to Nepal, and more locally great progress has 
been made in the upgrading of the road from the border 
through the city of Butwal to Kathmandu, including a 

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CEO’S REPORT CONTINUED

six lane highway directly past the resort. This is due to 
complete by the end of 2018. As noted earlier, there is 
significant airlift potential with the expansion of facilities to 
full international status at Bhairahawa’s Gautam Buddha 
Airport. Together with the expansion of the domestic 
Indian airport at Gorakhpur (just 100km over the border in 
India) this will substantially and continually improve ease 
of access from the largest cities in India such as Delhi, 
Mumbai, Kolkata, as well as cities in regional Asia.

As suggested in last year’s annual report, at year end 
we have managed to expand the Company’s gaming 
offering across three separate casinos, and at the time of 
printing we now operate 74 gaming tables and 348 EGM’s 
in Nepal and in Vietnam.

We will be seeking operational improvements in all of our 
venues, as well as a reduction in central overhead as we 
seek to generate improved returns for our shareholders. 

We have overcome many challenges in getting Tiger 
Palace to market, whilst continuing to grow our revenues 
led by Phoenix in Vietnam, and as our Chairman David 
Green suggested in his address at the 2017 AGM “we 
found a way”. My thanks go to everyone involved in 
financing and executing and now to operating our jewel, 
Tiger Palace. We will continue to work with our local 
contacts and business associates to identify, prove up and 
develop opportunities in Nepal. It is truly a monumental 
achievement of which we as shareholders should be 
proud, and it is a property and project with expectations 
upon which we as management and a board now intend 
to deliver. I look forward to the rest of 2018.

 
Mike Bolsover

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Tiger Palace Resort / 
Reflecting pool
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COMPANY OVERVIEW

Tiger Palace Resort / Casino Main Floor
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COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Group’s management team is highly experienced 
in Asian gaming and has a track record of identifying 
opportunities for, and successfully developing, gaming 
facilities and services. This deep understanding of Asian 
gaming markets, coupled with established relationships 
with regulators, relevant government ministries and other 
stakeholders, gives the Group a competitive advantage.

The Group’s business is divided into three business lines:

INTEGRATED RESORT (1)

The Group owns and operates an Integrated Resort 
named Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa (“Tiger Palace”). 
Tiger Palace contains a 5-star rated hotel with 100 rooms 
and 2 villas, and the resort also houses a casino which the 
Group manages itself. Tiger Palace is located near to the 
India-Nepal border.

Bhairahawa, Nepal

Tiger Palace is the first purpose-built Integrated Resort 
in Nepal, comprising a 100-room 5-star resort hotel with 
extensive hospitality options, and a world class casino. 
The resort, which is within 12 kilometres of the India-Nepal 
border, opened its hotel facilities in September 2017 
and the casino opened immediately on approval and 
licencing, 28 December 2017.

Tiger Palace has a gaming area of 2,471m2, of which 
462m2 is for high limit (including VIP and Premium Mass) 
customers, with 44 tables and 216 electronic gaming 
machines already in operation. Three Private Gaming 

rooms are scheduled to open in 4Q18, adding at least 8 
additional tables to the total. 

The hotel has extensive meeting, convention, and 
exhibition(“MICE”) space and, importantly for the Indian 
consumer, wedding and banqueting facilities for up to 
1,000 guests. There is a wide range of other entertainment 
facilities including a large outdoor swimming pool, a kids 
club and a spa, together with five food and beverage 
options, namely Ramro, Cabana, Jackpot, Banqueting, 
and in-room dining.

In addition to the principal hotel and casino, the Group 
has the opportunity to develop two additional hotels, one 
with 200 rooms and the other with 100 rooms, adjacent to 
Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa in conjunction with one 

Silver Heritage was founded in 2003 to supply gaming expertise and equipment to emerging 
Asian jurisdictions where it had identified strong demand for gaming. Today, the Group owns 
and operates an Integrated Resort in Bhairahawa Nepal, and casinos in Kathmandu Nepal, and 

Bac Ninh Vietnam. Operational oversight and strategic management are provided from the 
Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong.

2003
SHL incorporated

2004
Commenced 

operations in Laos

2005
Commenced 
operations in 
Cambodia

2010
SHL enters 
Vietnam

2012
SHL enters  

Nepal

2014
SHL begins live 

table operations 
in Vietnam

Tiger Palace Resort / Casino
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of its local partners although the cost of the construction 
drawings is impaired.

The Bhairahawa region is renowned for its local attractions 
including two UNESCO World Heritage sites, Lumbini 
(the birthplace of Buddha) and Chitwan National Park 
(with its one-horned rhino, elephant, and tigers), and 
the Valmiki Wildlife Sanctuary, and the resort has already 
attracted international visitors from around Asia, as well as 
Indian residents.

Silver Heritage plans to open a second wholly-owned and 
operated integrated resort, Tiger Palace Resort Jhapa, 
and has identified a site and paid a deposit on the land 
although at the time of reporting negotiation for extension 
of time of the Land Acquisition Agreement may not be 
completed by 31 March 2018. In the longer term, the 
Group intends to develop further Tiger Palace Resorts near 
the India-Nepal border.

CASINOS (2)

The Group also operates a casino in Kathmandu, Nepal 
under its own licence and provides management services 
for a casino in Bac Ninh, Vietnam.

Kathmandu, Nepal

Silver Heritage began its first licenced casino operation 
in February 2015 at The Millionaire’s Club & Casino in 
Kathmandu, Nepal. The club is located within the grounds 
of the 5-star Shangri-La Hotel in the centre of the city, 
and Silver Heritage has a 10-year lease from August 

2014, with an option to extend for a further 10 years by 
mutual agreement.

The Millionaire’s Club & Casino operates 24 hours a day, 
7 days a week, 365 days a year. The casino’s available 
gaming area is approximately 1,600m2, with current table 
count at 15 with capacity for up to 22 live gaming tables 
and 38 electronic gaming machines, offering a selection 
of popular casino games including roulette, baccarat, 
poker, flush and blackjack. As Nepali citizens are 
prohibited from accessing casinos, customers are drawn 
from Kathmandu’s Indian and other Asian expatriate 
communities and international visitors, many of whom 
are from India and China. The club has a membership 
program and at 31 December 2017 had over 35,000 
members.

Phoenix International Club, Vietnam

Silver Heritage manages the gaming operations at the 
Phoenix International Club near Bac Ninh in the industrial 
heartland of Vietnam, approximately 40 kilometres from 
the centre of Hanoi and two hours from the Chinese 
border. The management agreement extends until 2025. 
The club is in a leisure complex located in a restored hotel, 
previously used for government entertainment, and is 
approximately 60 kilometres closer to Hanoi than any of 
the other regional legal Vietnamese casinos.

The gaming centre and casino, which operates 24 hours 
a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year, has more than 
1,600m2 of gaming space, with 15 live gaming tables 
and 94 electronic gaming machines. The leisure complex 

The Millionaire’s Club & 
Casino, Kathmandu, Nepal

FEB 2015
Launch of casino 

in Kathmandu, 
Nepal

2015
Launch of 

expanded property 
in Vietnam

SEP 2017
Opening of the 

Hotel at Tiger Palace 
Bhairahawa, Nepal.

DEC 2017
Casino License 
granted to Tiger 
Palace Resort 

Bhairahawa, Nepal

MAR 2018
Grand Opening Tiger 
Palace Resort Casino 
Bhairahawa, Nepal

Phoenix International 
Club, Bac Ninh, Vietnam
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India

Nepal

Bangladesh

Delhi

Jaipur

Gandhinagar

Kathmandu

Gorakhpur

Bhairahawa

PatnaAllahabad

Satna

Bhubaneshwar

Bangalore

500 km

International airport

Major Indian Highways

Gangtok

Siliguri

Bhadrapur
Guwahati

Dhaka

Tiger Palace Resort 
Bhairahawa

Tiger Palace 
Resort Jhapa

(Planned)

Hyderabad

Mumbai Domestic airport

North-South Corridor

Golden Quadrilateral

East-West Corridor

Asansol

Lucknow

Porbandar

Kolkata

The Group’s Tiger 
Palace Resorts and 
their proximity to Indian 
gaming customers 

is owned by Phoenix International Travel which has 
permission to operate up to 30 gaming tables and 
100 gaming machines.

In addition to the gaming centre, the club has hotel 
accommodation, restaurants and sporting facilities. 
Customers are principally Koreans, many of whom 
are associated with Korean businesses in the area, as 
well as Japanese, Chinese, Taiwanese and South East 
Asian expatriates.

GROWTH STRATEGIES

In addition to developing casino facilities in Nepal, Silver 
Heritage is seeking opportunities to acquire an equity 
interest in, and management of, casinos in Vietnam, 
where it believes there is considerable growth potential. 
This follows the Group’s experience gained in providing 
management services to the Phoenix International Club.

The Group will also seek, on an opportunistic basis, 
to broaden its revenue streams through introducing 
additional gaming facilities or properties in other 
Asian markets, either as operator or through revenue 
sharing arrangements.
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Tiger Palace Resort  / Royal Bengal, Function Room
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report, together with the 
financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred 
to hereafter as the ‘Group’) consisting of Silver Heritage 
Group Limited (referred to hereafter as the ‘Company’ or 
‘parent entity’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, 
or during, the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS

The following persons were Directors of the Company 
during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated:

David Green  
Mike Bolsover  
Richard Barker  
Matthew Hunter  
Robert Benussi Appointed on 7 August 2017
Hugh Holmes Resigned on 9 March 2017

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group operates and manages casinos in Nepal and 
Vietnam, and leases electronic gaming equipment to 
casino operators in Laos. The Group has built and opened 
South Asia’s first integrated resort, Tiger Palace Resort 
Bhairahawa (‘Tiger Palace’), in Nepal close to the border 
with India’s most populous state, Uttar Pradesh.  

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared 
during the current or previous financial year. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The loss for the Group after providing for income tax and 
non-controlling interest amounted to US$14,446,000 (31 
December 2016: US$4,580,000). 

Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa, Nepal  
(Tiger Palace)

Opening Tiger Palace integrated resort and commencing 
the casino operations before year end were the key 
priorities and achievements for the Group in 2017. 

Tiger Palace hotel facilities commenced hotel operations 
on 20 September 2017 and the casino opened on 28 
December 2017, the same day the license was granted. 

After the casino commenced operations, over 400 guests 
celebrated New Year’s Eve at Tiger Palace resulting in 
full occupancy for the hotel. The majority of guests came 
from the neighbouring Indian state of Uttar Pradesh, which 
has a population of over 215 million. 

The ramp up of the property has continued into 2018, 
and on 24 February 2018 Tiger Palace hosted 913 guests, 
including its first wedding event and the 25th wedding 
anniversary of a local Nepali businessman. The Indian 
Weddings Market is worth an estimated US$40 billion 

annually2 and in addition to the ‘MICE’ (Meetings, 
Incentives, Conventions, Exhibitions) sector, will form a 
significant part of the non-gaming offering at Tiger Palace. 

Due to significant demand, there will be two separate 
Grand Opening Events. Firstly, a Players Grand Opening 
on 16 and 17 March 2018, and secondly, a Resort Grand 
Opening on 14 April 2018 (Nepali New Year 2075). 

During the three months ended 31 December 2017, in 
hotel ramp-up, total revenue was US$117,000 and total 
expenses were US$677,000 resulting in a Segment loss of 
US$560,000. 

Phoenix International Club, Vietnam (Phoenix)

At the Phoenix International Club (‘Phoenix’) situated 
just outside of Hanoi in Bac Ninh, Vietnam, we 
continued to deliver strong returns on capital invested 
(total US$11,500,000 invested to date). We generated 
US$6,783,000 of Segment Profit from our management 
agreement during FY2017. 

 ■ Total GGR at Phoenix was US$27,183,000 for FY2017, up 
60% on the previous year of $16,963,000. 

 ■ Direct play for VIPs which contributed $3,275,000 or 
15% of the total live table GGR, with a hold rate of 
28% and also a higher Mass Table hold rate of 24.3% 
compared to 19.9% achieved in FY2016.

 ■ Visitation numbers were up above 172,000, more than 
an 18% gain from prior year of 146,000 patrons. 

 ■ Total Table Drop increased by 29% from US$68,099,000 
to US$76,464,000. 

 ■ Electronic Gaming Machines (‘EGMs’) at the property 
performed well, generating an increased GGR 
of US$5,351,000, or 20% of the total GGR, up from 
US$3,403,000 in FY2016. 

Despite increasing direct operating costs due to ongoing 
development and expansion of the Phoenix property, 
Segment Profit remained strong at US$6,783,000 up 71% on 
FY2016 of US$3,971,000. 

The Millionaire’s Club & Casino (TMCCK), Nepal 

At TMCCK, we achieved a Segment Profit of US$206,000 
as against FY2016 Segment Profit of US$511,000. The 
Kathmandu market remains competitive, with one new 
casino opened in 2017 and more slated to open in 2018. 

 ■ GGR at TMCCK was US$5,163,000 against US$5,556,000 
for FY2016, down 7%. 

 ■ Visitation increased to more than 90,000 from 83,000. 

 ■ Increase in drop to US$28,161,000 from US$23,710,000. 

2 The National - Business, India weddings a billion-dollar 
industry, 22 October 2016.
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 ■ Decline in GGR is mainly attributed to a lower mass 
table hold rate of 16.4% against last year’s hold rate of 
21.1%. 

 ■ EGMs which contributed 10% to the Total GGR at the 
property generated GGR of US$534,000 against FY2016 
GGR of US$543,000, down 1.7%. 

Overall total direct expenses were US$4,988,000. Due 
to a change in the tariff structure, total utility expense 
increased by 114%. 

EGM Lease Business Unit 

The change last year of the EGMs leasing business to a 
currently passive model allows the freeing up of internal 
resources for redeployment to Tiger Palace. 

As a result of this change in business model, total revenue 
from the EGM lease business of US$617,000 is significantly 
lower than FY2016 of US$3,104,000, a decline of 80%. Total 
Segment profit of US$233,000 was down 84% on FY2016 of 
US$1,467,000.

IMPAIRMENT AND WRITE OFF OF ASSETS 

The following non-cash impairments and write off of assets 
totalling US$6,860,000 have been made to the carrying 
value of Group’s assets at 31 December 2017: 

 ■ TMCCK: US$659,000 

 ■ Construction Drawings - Hotels to be built adjacent to 
Tiger Palace: US$1,040,000 

 ■ Unused Inspired EGM Software Licences: US$2,031,000 

 ■ Land Deposit - Tiger Palace Resort Jhapa: US$3,130,000 

TMCCK, Nepal 

Kathmandu remains a very challenging market with new 
entrants re-populating the eight existing 5 Star Hotels in 
the capital. The new casinos are expected to impact 
TMCCK’s performance. With a decline in results and a 
competitive future, the annual impairment testing process 
resulted in an impairment of US$659,000 of TMCCK’s assets. 
The impairment charge has been apportioned pro-rata 
to the non-current assets allocated to the TMCCK cash-
generating unit. 

Construction Drawings - Tiger Hotel JV’s adjacent to 
Tiger Palace Resort Bhairahawa

Architects Pacific, the same New Zealand firm responsible 
for Tiger Palace was appointed to provide concept 
design and construction documentation for the proposed 
Forest and Village hotels, to be built adjacent to Tiger 
Palace, in May 2015. The total sum paid was US$1,040,000. 

The Village hotel was designed as a 100-room four-star 
hotel, located to the northeast of the property and The 
Forest hotel was designed as a 200-room four-star hotel, 
located to the southwest of the property.

Early indicators are suggesting that if cheaper 
accommodation options are available, it would give day 
trippers the affordable option to stay overnight instead of 
returning home before the Indian/Nepal border closes for 
vehicle traffic at 10 p.m.

Although the Group is more confident today than it was 
in the prior year that these plans will be utilised for future 
development, the Group is still exploring opportunities 
to co-develop this project. As the development is still in 
progress, any financial modelling of the project will not 
result in a model that provides a sufficiently strong case 
to support value in use. The impact of this impairment is 
US$1,040,000. 

Unused Inspired Gaming EGM Software Licences 

After the Group ceased operations in the Philippines 
during 2016, to continue to focus on casino operations 
away from the EGM leasing business, a significant number 
of EGM licences were returned into inventory. While 
61 were redeployed at the Tiger Palace casino, the 
remaining total of 577 licences are not likely to be used in 
the near future and hence they do not meet the definition 
of an asset as they are not likely to produce any positive 
economic value in the foreseeable future. This results in 
an impairment of the unused EGM licenses amounting to 
US$2,031,000. 

Land Deposit - Tiger Palace Resort Jhapa 

This deposit represents a deposit towards the acquisition 
of land at the site of the Group’s proposed second Tiger 
Palace Resort at Jhapa, Nepal, which is located along the 
Eastern part of the India-Nepal border. 

Under an agreement for the sale and purchase of land 
dated 17 September 2015 between Tiger Two Private 
Limited (‘Tiger Two’), a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of 
the Company, and Nabaraj Bajgain, one of the Group’s 
partners in Nepal (the ‘Land Acquisition Agreement’), 
Nabaraj Bajgain has agreed to arrange for the purchase 
of identified plots of land totalling approximately 22 bighas 
(approximately 148,998 m2) for and on behalf of Tiger Two 
earmarked for the Tiger Palace Resort Jhapa. 

Under the Land Acquisition Agreement, Nabaraj Bajgain 
is authorised to purchase 17 bighas (approximately 
115,134 m2) of land up to an amount of NPR 445,923,000 
(US$4,338,000) and to purchase 22 bighas (approximately 
148,998 m2) of land up to an amount of NPR 843,123,000 
(US$8,202,000) (in the event Tiger Two elects to do so). 
Tiger Two has advanced to Nabaraj Bajgain deposits of 
NPR321,360,000 as per terms of agreement (US$3,130,000). 

In the event that the land is not duly transferred in 
accordance with the Land Acquisition Agreement 
(including as a result of Nabaraj Bajgain’s default), the 
deposits are returned to Tiger Two. However, under the 
current terms of the Land Acquisition Agreement, if Tiger 
Two does not elect to acquire the land, or otherwise 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

refuses to purchase the land by 31 March 2018, the 
amount of the deposit may be forfeited. 

At the time of reporting, negotiation on a time extension 
and amendment to the existing agreement is ongoing 
and may not be completed by 31 March 2018, being the 
date the deposit may be forfeited. The Group’s appointed 
legal team in Nepal, Pioneer Law, is of the opinion that 
the recovery of the deposit paid will be subject to legal 
proceedings which are likely to be protracted. To withhold 
any of the deposit paid, Nabaraj Bajgain will have to 
establish damages suffered in the form of actual expenses 
incurred for performance of his obligations under the 
agreement. As such, there is sufficient uncertainty to 
write off the land deposit, as it currently does not satisfy 
the definition of an asset. The Board acknowledges that 
an agreement may be reached in future periods which 
means that there is a potential for at least a partial 
reversal of this write off in the future.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

On 30 June 2017, the Company announced the launch 
of a fully underwritten accelerated renounceable 
entitlement offer which comprised of an institutional 
component and a retail component. 

On 10 July 2017, the Company, under the institutional 
component, issued 206,533,143 ordinary shares at A$0.05 
each raising a total of A$10,327,000 (US$7,914,000). In 
addition, the Company issued 8,518,727 ordinary shares in 
partial settlement of sub-underwriting fees. 

On 3 August 2017, the Company, under the retail 
component, issued 174,037,162 ordinary shares at A$0.05 
each raising a total of A$8,702,000 (US$6,946,000). In 
addition, the Company issued 5,867,445 ordinary shares in 
partial settlement of sub-underwriting fees.  

The new shares issued rank equally with all existing fully 
paid ordinary shares.  

On 8 August 2017, in respect to amendments to the 
secured bond facilities, the Company issued to its 
bondholders options to acquire 29,904,306 new ordinary 
shares at an exercise price of A$0.11 with an expiry date 
of 26 August 2019. On exercise of the options, the ordinary 
shares issued will rank equally with all fully paid ordinary 
shares. 

There were no other significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the Group during the financial year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR

On 3 January 2018, the Company issued 746,600 shares 
to Mike Bolsover as a result of vesting of performance 
share rights in accordance with the LTI plan adopted by 
the Company at the time of its listing on the ASX and its 
remuneration strategy. 

On 22 February 2018, the Group announced the 
termination of its consultancy agreement with one of its 
Nepal based strategic partners, Mr Rajendra Bajgain (‘Mr 
Bajgain’). Mr Bajgain remains a director and shareholder 
of the Company’s Nepal incorporated subsidiary, SHL 
Management Services (KTM) Pvt Limited, which is the 
licence holder for casino operations at both Tiger Palace 
and TMCCK. Discussion with Mr Bajgain in regards to his 
relationship with the Company are on-going. Whilst the 
Company remains confident that it will be successful in 
settling its relationship with Mr Bajgain, it is likely that the 
Company will be required to seek new Nepal based 
strategic partnerships. The Group’s ability to secure new 
and successful Nepal based strategic partnerships is 
likely to have a significant impact to the Group’s business 
strategy and future projects in Nepal. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 
December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group’s operations, the results of 
those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future 
financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The Group is currently in the ramp up phase for both 
the hotel and the casino of Tiger Palace. Increasing the 
profitability of both the hotel and the casino will be critical 
for the Group in order to meet its expectations for the 
remainder of the year. The Group is currently expanding 
its business development and marketing presence in India 
to drive higher footfall of both hotel guests and casino 
patrons at Tiger Palace. In addition, the Group is focusing 
on efforts to increase event bookings in both the Indian 
Weddings Market and the ‘MICE’ (Meetings, Incentives, 
Conventions and Exhibitions) sector. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The Group is not subject to any significant environmental 
regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Director Experience and expertise

David John Green

Non-Executive Chairman

B.Comm, LL.B (Hons), 
LL.M, from the University 
of Melbourne; MBA (Hons) 
from IMD, in Lausanne, 
Switzerland; Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors; Fellow 
of the Institute of Public 
Accountants.

David is admitted to legal practice in Victoria and South Australia. He is also a qualified 
accountant. He has spent much of his career in professional firms, and has served as 
a partner of Deloitte in Australia, Arthur Andersen in Australia, Hong Kong and Macau 
and PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and Macau. David served for more than 
seven years on the Board of South Australia’s Gaming Supervisory Authority, and its 
successor, the Independent Gambling Authority. He was Chairman of the Authority 
from March 1999 until his resignation in August 2002. He also served for three years 
on the National Tax Liaison Group, chaired by the Federal Commissioner of Taxation. 
His community involvement includes service as a Board member of both Operation 
Flinders Foundation, and the Child Health Research Institute, prior to his departure 
from South Australia in 2001. His commercial involvement has included several Board 
positions with both private and unlisted public companies, and service as a Director of 
the State Government Insurance Commission of South Australia. 

Other current directorships: Chairman of Newpage Consultadoria Limitada, a Macau 
incorporated private company

Former directorships (last 3 years): Director of Abalone Victoria Central Zone Limited, an 
Australian public company limited by guarantee

Special Responsibilities to: Chairman of the People and Culture Committee; Member of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee to 31 December 2017

Interests in shares: 300,000 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

Mike Luke 
Deneuve Bolsover

Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer

Qualifications: Degree in 
Finance and Marketing 
from Emory University in 
Atlanta GA, USA.

Mike is a co-founder of Silver Heritage Limited and has an in-depth understanding 
of Asian gaming operations. He previously worked for online gaming operator Victor 
Chandler in the trading and business development departments from 1999 to 2003. 
Mike became an executive director of Silver Heritage Limited in 2005 and was 
appointed Chief Executive Officer in 2008. In 2015 Mike was voted one of Asia’s Top 50 
most influential people in the Asian gaming industry (Inside Asian Gaming). Mike is also 
a member of the 2016 Class of 40 under 40 (Global Gaming Business), and received a 
G2E Emerging Leader Scholarship in conjunction with Innovation Group.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 5,471,161 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: 7,839,800 performance share rights
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

Director Experience and expertise

Richard Scott Barker

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of 
Arts degree (Economics 
and Financial Studies, 
majoring in Accountancy) 
from Macquarie University, 
Sydney and is a Fellow of 
both the Financial Services 
Institute of Australia 
(‘FINSIA’) and CPA 
Australia. 

Richard has spent most of his professional life in financial markets, primarily in 
investment banking and stockbroking. Although originally trained as an accountant, 
he has specialised in mergers and acquisitions, capital raisings and corporate financial 
advice. He has previously worked for Potter Warburg, Morgan Grenfell (both in Australia 
and the United Kingdom), NM Rothschild & Sons Australia and RBC Capital Markets, 
the investment banking arm of the Royal Bank of Canada. Richard has a strong 
understanding of the capital markets’ investment landscape. In addition, Richard 
was previously Chief Executive Officer of Betcorp Limited, an ASX listed online gaming 
company with operations in Australia and the Caribbean, during 2003 and 2004. 

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Director of unlisted resources companies 
Batchfire Resources Pty Ltd and Australian Future Energy Pty Ltd

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
member of the People and Culture Committee

Interests in shares: 1,376,723 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

Matthew Hunter

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor 
of Commerce (Honours), 
Accounting and Finance 
from The University of New 
South Wales

Matthew has in excess of 20 years’ experience in the finance industry, most recently 
over 10 years’ experience in private equity investment. Matthew is the founder and 
managing director of Rivendell Capital (‘Rivendell’), which arranges private equity 
investments and provides advisory services. Prior to founding Rivendell, Matthew was 
Managing Director of global private equity firm, The Carlyle Group, during which 
time he served on the Board as a Non-Executive Director of both Coates Hire and 
Healthscope. Prior to this, Matthew worked for 13 years in the investment banking 
industry in Australia and the United Kingdom advising companies across a range of 
industries on mergers and acquisitions.

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Director of Terracom Limited (ASX: TER) and 
Chairman of Measure Australia Pty Limited

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
member of the People and Culture Committee

Interests in shares: 7,626,427 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None
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Director Experience and expertise

Robert Benussi  
(appointed on 7 August 
2017)

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: Member 
of Institute of Public 
Accountants

Robert was the founding shareholder and director of Bligh Resources Limited (ASX: 
BGH) holding the positions of Managing Director / Chief Financial Officer. Prior to 
this role he held various positions at Jupiter Mines Limited as Chief Financial Officer, 
Company Secretary and General Manager, Corporate and was a Non-Executive 
Director of Resource Star Limited. Robert has extensive experience in finance, 
corporate advisory, stockbroking and business development.

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Chairman of Tawana Resources NL (ASX: 
TAW) (since 21 October 2016, a Non-Executive Director since 4 December 2015)

Former directorships (last 3 years): Executive Director of Bligh Resources Limited (ASX: 
BGH)

Special Responsibilities to: Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee from 
1 January 2018

Interests in shares: 330,401 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of 

all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Kim Clark is an experienced business professional with 21 years’ experience in the banking and finance industries, 
followed by 6 years’ experience as a Company Secretary of an ASX300 company. She is the Head of Corporate Services 
for Boardroom Pty Ltd’s Queensland office (since April 2013) and in conjunction with this role acts as Company Secretary 
to a number of ASX listed and unlisted companies in Australia.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



24 | Silver Heritage Group

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee held during 

the year ended 31 December 2017, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were:

Full Board
Audit and Risk  

Management Committee
People and Culture 

Committee

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

David Green 21 21 7 7 5 5 

Mike Bolsover 20 21 - - - -

Richard Barker 21 21 7 7 5 5 

Matthew Hunter 21 21 7 7 5 5 

Robert Benussi 6 6 - - - -

Hugh Holmes 5 6 - - - -

 

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the relevant 
committee.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The remuneration report details the key management 
personnel (‘KMP’) remuneration arrangements for the 
Group, in accordance with the requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
Key management personnel are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 

including all directors. 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main 
headings:

 ■ Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration

 ■ Details of remuneration

 ■ Service agreements

 ■ Share-based compensation

 ■ Additional information

 ■ Additional disclosures relating to key management 

personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and amount 
of remuneration

The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework 
is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns 
executive reward with the achievement of strategic 
objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and 

it is considered to conform to the market best practice for 
the delivery of reward. The Board ensures that executive 
reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices:

 ■ competitiveness and reasonableness;

 ■ acceptability to shareholders;

 ■ performance linkage / alignment of executive 
compensation; and

 ■ transparency.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing 
remuneration arrangements for its directors and 
executives. The performance of the Group depends 
on the quality of its directors and executives. The 
remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and 
retain high performance and high quality personnel. The 
People and Culture Committee has been established by 
the Board for the purpose of achieving the following key 
objectives:

 ■ to review and advise the Board on the composition of 
the Board and its committees;

 ■ to ensure that a review of the performance of 
the Board, the Chairman, the executive and Non-
Executive Directors and other individual members of 
the Board occurs on a regular basis;

 ■ to ensure proper succession plans are in place for 
consideration by the Board;

 ■ to assist the Board with the establishment of 
remuneration policies and practices for the 
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Company’s Chief Executive Officer, senior managers 
and staff, as well as to ensure director compensation is 
fair and current;

 ■ to evaluate the competencies required of prospective 
directors (both non-executive and executive), identify 
those prospective directors and establish their degree 
of independence;

 ■ to oversee the implementation of the Company’s 
Diversity Policy; and

 ■ to make recommendations to the Board accordingly. 
The People and Culture Committee is in the course of 
restructuring an executive remuneration framework that 
is market competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy of the Group.

The reward framework is designed to align executive 
reward to shareholders’ interests. The Board have 
considered that it should seek to enhance shareholders’ 
interests by:

 ■ having economic profit as a core component of plan 
design;

 ■ focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, 
consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and 
delivering constant or increasing return on assets as 
well as focusing the executive on key non-financial 
drivers of value; and

 ■ attracting and retaining high calibre executives. 
Additionally, the reward framework should seek to 
enhance executives’ interests by:

 ■ rewarding capability and experience;

 ■ reflecting competitive reward for contribution to 
growth in shareholder wealth; and

 ■ providing a clear structure for earning rewards. 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, 
the structure of non-executive director and executive 
director remuneration is separate.

Non-executive directors remuneration

Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the 
demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-Executive 
Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by 
the People and Culture Committee. The People and 
Culture Committee may, from time to time, receive 
advice from independent remuneration consultants to 
ensure Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are 
appropriate and in line with the market.

Under the Constitution, the Board may decide the 
remuneration from the Company to which each Director 
is entitled for his services as a Director. However, under 
ASX Listing Rules, the total amount of fees payable to all 

Directors for their services (excluding for these purposes, 
the remuneration of any Executive Director) must not 
exceed in aggregate in any financial year the amount 
fixed by the Company in general meeting. This amount 
has been capped by the Company at A$800,000 per 
annum. Any increase to that aggregate annual sum 
needs to be approved by Shareholders. Directors will 
seek approval of the Shareholders from time to time, 
as appropriate. This aggregate annual sum does not 
include any special remuneration which the Board may 
grant to the Directors for special exertions or additional 
services performed by a Director for or at the request of 
the Company, which may be made in addition to or in 
substitution for the Director’s fees.

The annual Directors’ fees currently agreed to be paid 
by the Company are A$180,000 to the Chairman and 
A$120,000 to each of the other Non-Executive Directors. 
In addition, the following annual fees are payable to 
Directors for their involvement in Board committees:

 ■ People and Culture Committee: Chair A$15,000; other 
member A$10,000; and

 ■ Audit and Risk Management Committee: Chair 

A$15,000; other member A$10,000. 

Executive remuneration

The Group aims to reward executives based on their 
position and responsibility, with a level and mix of 
remuneration which has both fixed and variable 

components. 
The executive remuneration and reward framework has 
four components:

 ■ base pay and non-monetary benefits;

 ■ short-term performance incentives;

 ■ share-based payments; and

 ■ other remuneration such as superannuation and long 

service leave. 
The combination of these comprises the executive’s total 

remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, 
superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed 
annually by the People and Culture Committee based 
on individual and business unit performance, the overall 
performance of the Group and comparable market 

remunerations.

Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in 
the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example 
healthcare benefits) where it does not create any 
additional costs to the Group and provides additional 

value to the executive.
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The short-term incentives (‘STI’) program is being 
designed to align the targets of the business units with 
the performance hurdles of executives. While there is as 
yet no formal STI program in place, STI payments will be 
granted to executives based on specific annual targets 
and key performance indicators (‘KPI’s’) being achieved. 
KPI’s will include profit contribution, customer satisfaction, 
leadership contribution and management. There were 
no awards or payments for STI for the year ended 31 
December 2017.

The long-term incentives (‘LTI’) plan includes share-based 
payments and may include long service leave. 

There is a formal LTI plan in place which was adopted by 
the Board prior to listing. Under the LTI plan the provision 
of any incentives is at the discretion of the Board. In 
exercising its discretion, the Board will take into account 
matters such as the position of the eligible person, the 
roles they play in the Group, the nature or terms of their 
employment or contract and the contribution they 
make to the Group as a whole. The LTI plan may include 
options and/or performance share rights. The Board 
approves the key metrics that are required to be met by 
executives under the LTI plan before the shares can be 
vested. Executive participation in the LTI plan does not 
require shareholder approval, however the metrics, where 
applicable, are detailed in this report. 

The purpose of the LTI plan is to:

 ■ assist in the reward, retention and motivation of eligible 
employees;

 ■ link the reward of eligible employees to shareholder 
value creation;

 ■ drive enhanced Company and individual 
performance; and

 ■ align the longer term interests of eligible employees 
with shareholders by providing an opportunity 
to eligible employees to earn rewards via an 
equity interest in the Company based on creating 
shareholder value.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, Mike Bolsover 
was awarded performance share rights pursuant to the 
LTI plan, which was approved by shareholders at the 
extraordinary general meeting of 29 September 2017. 
Details of the number of rights and hurdles are outlined 
in the section ‘Share-based compensation’ below. There 
were no other awards or payments for LTI for the year 
ended 31 December 2017. 

Group performance and link to remuneration

Remuneration for certain individuals is directly linked to 
the performance of the Group. A portion of the incentive 
payments are dependent on adjusted EBITDA being met. 
The remaining portion of the cash bonus and incentive 
payments are at the discretion of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee. Refer to the section ‘Additional 
information’ below for details of the earnings and total 
shareholders return for the two years since listing.

Use of remuneration consultants

The Group did not engage remuneration consultants 

during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2017 
Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)

At the 2016 AGM, 70.52% of the votes received supported 
the adoption of the remuneration report for the year 
ended 31 December 2016. The Company did not 
receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its 

remuneration practices.

Since more than 25% of the shareholders voted against 
the remuneration report, this represented a ‘first strike’. 
The Board has discussed and/or communicated the 
remuneration policies with a number of key shareholders 
following the first strike to address their concerns. The 
Board is confident that shareholders will accept this 
remuneration report and a ‘second strike’ resulting in a spill 
motion can be avoided at the 2017 AGM.

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION

The key management personnel of the Group consisted of 
the following Directors of Silver Heritage Group Limited:

 ■ David Green

 ■ Mike Bolsover

 ■ Richard Barker

 ■ Matthew Hunter

 ■ Robert Benussi (Appointed on 7 August 2017)

 ■ Hugh Holmes (Resigned on 9 March 2017)

 ■ Elise Baker (Resigned on 5 May 2016)

 ■ John Schaap (Resigned on 3 June 2016)

 ■ Michael Anderson (Resigned on 14 December 2016) 
And the following persons:

 ■ Tim Shepherd - President, Business Development and 
Marketing (Resigned on 30 September 2017)

 ■ Martin Wright - Chief Financial Officer (Resigned on 31 
December 2017)

 ■ Basil Jong - Chief Financial Officer (Appointed on 6 

November 2017) F
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The 2017 table below represents remuneration paid by the Group consisting of Silver Heritage Group Limited and its 
subsidiaries for the entire financial year, unless otherwise stated:

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Long-term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

2017

Cash  
salary

and fees
US$

Cash
bonus

US$

Non-
monetary

US$

Super-
annuation

US$

Long  
service
leave
US$

Termination
benefits

US$

Equity-
settled

US$
Total
US$

Non-Executive 
Directors:

David Green 142,998 - - 13,585 - - - 156,583 

Richard Barker 101,145 - - 9,609 - - - 110,754 

Matthew Hunter 97,656 - - 9,277 - - - 106,933 

Robert Benussi* 37,363 - - - - - - 37,363 

Executive 
Directors:

Mike Bolsover 349,992 25,000 - 17,500 - - 244,870 637,362 

Hugh Holmes** 47,500 - - 2,500 - 157,500 - 207,500 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

Martin Wright*** 276,923 - - 13,846 - 278,710 - 569,479 

Basil Jong**** 42,602 - - 2,322 - - - 44,924 

Tim Shepherd***** 207,692 - - 4,615 - 278,710 - 491,017 

1,303,871 25,000 - 73,254 - 714,920 244,870 2,361,915 

 

* Represents remuneration from 7 August 2017 to 31 December 2017

** Represents remuneration from 1 January 2017 to date of resignation

*** Represents remuneration from 1 January 2017 to date of resignation

**** Represents remuneration from 6 November 2017 to 31 December 2017

***** Represents remuneration from 1 January 2017 to date of resignation
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The 2016 table below represents remuneration paid by the Group consisting of Silver Heritage Limited and its subsidiaries 
for the entire financial year and Silver Heritage Group Limited for the period from 25 August 2016 (the date that Silver 
Heritage Group Limited was admitted to the ASX) to 31 December 2016.

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits

Long- 
term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

2016

Cash  
salary

and fees
US$

Cash
bonus

US$

Non-
monetary

US$

Super-
annuation

US$

Long  
service
leave
US$

Termination
benefits

US$

Equity-
settled

US$
Total
US$

Non-Executive 
Directors:
David Green 106,195 - - 4,482 - - - 110,677 
Richard Barker* 48,384 - - 3,155 - - - 51,539 
Matthew Hunter** 4,691 - - 446 - - - 5,137 
Michael 
Anderson*** 86,906 - - 2,650 - - - 89,556 
Elise Baker**** 29,156 - - - - - - 29,156 
John Schaap**** 36,773 - - - - - - 36,773 
Executive 
Directors:

Mike Bolsover 342,304 - - 17,115 - - - 359,419 
Hugh Holmes 300,000 - - 5,000 - - - 305,000 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:
Martin Wright 278,710 - - 13,935 - - - 292,645 
Tim Shepherd 278,710 - - 13,935 - - - 292,645 

1,511,829 - - 60,718 - - - 1,572,547 

*  Represents remuneration from 10 July 2016 to 31 December 2016

** Represents remuneration from 14 December 2016 to 31 December 2016

*** Represents remuneration from 1 January 2016 to date of resignation

**** Represents remuneration from 1 January 2016 to date of resignation (these were consultancy fees)

 The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI
Name 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-Executive Directors:
David Green 100% 100% - - - -
Richard Barker 100% 100% - - - -
Matthew Hunter 100% 100% - - - -
Robert Benussi 100% - - - - -

Michael Anderson - 100% - - - -
Elise Baker - 100% - - - -
John Schaap - 100% - - - -

Executive Directors:
Mike Bolsover 58% 100% 4% - 38% -

Hugh Holmes - 100% - - - -
Other Key Management 
Personnel:
Martin Wright 100% 100% - - - -
Basil Jong 100% - - - - -
Tim Shepherd 100% 100% - - - -

100% of the bonus that was available to be paid in the financial year has not been paid, US$nil bonus was forfeited.
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. 
Details of these agreements are as follows:

Service agreements

Name: 

Title: 

Agreement commenced:

Term of agreement:

Details:

Mike Bolsover

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

25 August 2016

Ongoing

Mike receives a remuneration package of US$350,000 gross. In addition, he participates 
in a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (‘MPFS’), with the ability to 
voluntarily contribute additional funds to the MPFS which is matched by the Company 
up to a maximum of 5% of Mike’s monthly base salary. He is eligible to participate 
in an annual STI plan. The STI plan provides for cash payments to be made after the 
finalisation of the Company’s audited accounts, subject to achieving specific targets 
as against key performance indicators agreed with the Board for that year. Mike 
was granted performance share rights on 29 September 2017 following shareholder 
approval and in accordance with the Company’s LTI plan.  
 
Either party is entitled to terminate the employment by giving 6 months’ written notice. 
The Company may, at its election, make a payment in lieu of that notice based on 
Mike’s remuneration package or place Mike on gardening leave for that period. In 
addition, where Mike’s employment is terminated by the Company on notice, he 
will be entitled to receive a payment from the Company calculated on the basis of 
one months’ remuneration package for each completed year of continuous service 
calculated from the date of his first employment with the Group, less any payment 
in lieu of notice to be paid to Mike, and with that payment capped at a total of 12 
months’ remuneration package. Any payments to Mike will also be subject to the 
termination payment cap provisions set out in the Corporations Act. The Company 
may also terminate Mike’s employment immediately and without further payment 
where he commits serious misconduct and on other similar grounds. 
 
After termination Mike will be subject to non-compete, non-solicitation of clients 
and non-solicitation of employees restrictions, within the main countries in which the 
Company operates for a maximum period of 12 months.

Name: 

Agreement commenced:

Term of agreement:

Details:

Other Key Management Personnel

Various

Ongoing

All other key management personnel are employed under written terms of 
employment with the Company. 
 
The key terms and conditions of their employment include remuneration packages 
and participation in MPFS, participation in the STI plan, eligibility to participate in the 
Company’s LTI plan, notice of termination of employment provisions, with the relevant 
notice period being 3 months, and reflecting previous employment terms, potentially 
an additional payment on termination on similar terms and post-employment 
restrictions covering non-competition, non-solicitation of clients and non-poaching of 
employees, within the main countries in which the Company operates for a maximum 
duration of 12 months.

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct. 
Contracts contains express provisions protecting the Company’s confidential information and intellectual property.
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Issue of shares

There were no shares issued to Directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

Options

There were no options over ordinary shares issued to Directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation that were outstanding as at 31 December 2017.

Performance share rights

The terms and conditions of each grant of performance share rights over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of 
Directors and other key management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:

Name

Number of 
rights 

granted Grant date

Vesting 
determination 

event Expiry date

Fair value 
per right at grant 

date

Mike Bolsover (1a) 746,600 29/09/2017 30/09/2017 1/02/2020 US$0.078 

Mike Bolsover (1b) 746,600 29/09/2017 14/12/2017 1/02/2020 US$0.051 

Mike Bolsover (1c) 746,600 29/09/2017 31/12/2017 1/02/2020 US$0.078 

Mike Bolsover (1d) 1,493,200 29/09/2017 31/12/2017 1/02/2020 US$0.078 

Mike Bolsover (2) 2,800,000 29/09/2017 31/12/2018 1/02/2020 US$0.006 

Mike Bolsover (3a) 1,400,000 29/09/2017 31/12/2019 1/02/2020 US$0.005 

Mike Bolsover (3b) 1,400,000 29/09/2017 31/12/2019 1/02/2020 US$0.045 

 

* Tranche 1 - 3,733,000 performance share rights. 
Vesting was subject to the satisfaction of the following 
performance hurdles: 
(a) 746,600 performance share rights were to vest if the Group 
opened its Tiger Palace hospitality facilities (excluding the 
casino) to commercial customers on or before 30 September 
2017. If the opening occurred between 1 October 2017 and 
14 October 2017, these performance share rights were to vest 
on a pro-rata basis. None of these performance share rights 
vest if the opening occurs on or after 15 October 2017. The 
Board agreed that Mike Bolsover had met this hurdle; 
(b) 746,600 performance share rights were to vest if the 
Group opened its Tiger Palace casino gaming operations 
to commercial players on or before 30 November 2017. If 
the opening occurred between 1 December 2017 and 14 
December 2017, these performance share rights were to vest 
on a pro-rata basis. None of these performance share rights 
vest if the opening occurs on or after 15 December 2017. The 
Board agreed that Mike Bolsover had not met this hurdle; 
(c) 746,600 performance share rights will vest if the Group 
achieves the openings referred to in Tranche 1 parts (a) and 
(b) within the final budget of US$52 million or less. None of 
these performance share rights will vest if the final audited 
budget is more than US$52 million. The Board have yet to 
decide on whether Mike Bolsover has met this hurdle; and 
(d) 1,493,200 performance share rights will vest subject to the 
Group achieving its forecast of EBITDA of US$1,747,000 for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2017. Pro-rata vesting will 
occur where the Group fails to achieve its forecast EBITDA 
by up to 10% and no vesting will occur if the Group fails to 
achieve its forecast EBITDA by 10% or more. The Board have 
yet to decide on whether Mike Bolsover has met this hurdle. 
 

The vesting of Tranche 1, parts (a), (b), (c) and (d), were 
subject to Mike Bolsover remaining employed by the Group 
until at least 31 December 2017.

** Tranche 2 - 2,800,000 performance share rights. 
Vesting is subject to the Group meeting its forecast EBITDA for 
year ending 31 December 2018 and Mike Bolsover remaining 
employed by the Group until 31 December 2018. Pro-rata 
vesting will occur where the Group fails to achieve its forecast 
EBITDA by up to 10% and no vesting will occur if the Group 
fails to achieve its forecast EBITDA by 10% or more.

*** Tranche 3(a) - 1,400,000 performance share rights. 
Vesting is subject to the Group meeting its forecast EBITDA for 
year ending 31 December 2019. Pro-rata vesting will occur 
where the Group fails to achieve its forecast EBITDA by up to 
10% and no vesting will occur if the Group fails to achieve its 
forecast EBITDA by 10% or more; and 
Tranche 3(b) - 1,400,000 performance share rights. 
Vesting is subject to the Group achieving a total return to 
shareholders (‘TSR’) at a 75th percentile or higher level as 
compared to a group of comparable ASX listed companies 
(‘Peer Group’). Pro-rata vesting will occur where the Group 
achieves a TSR which is more than 50th percentile but less 
than 75th percentile as compared to the Peer Group and no 
vesting will occur where the TSR is equal to 50th percentile or 
less as compared to the Peer Group. 
The vesting of Tranche 3(a) and 3(b), are subject to Mike 
Bolsover remaining employed by the Group until at least 31 
December 2019. 
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Performance share rights granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

Performance share rights are exercisable on the date of vesting, where applicable. On exercise of each performance 
share right, Mike Bolsover will be entitled to one share in the Company.

The number of performance share rights over ordinary shares granted to and vested by Directors and other key 
management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out below:

Name

Number of  
rights granted  

during the year  
2017

Number of  
rights granted  

during the year  
2016

Number of  
rights vested  

during the year  
2017

Number of  
rights vested  

during the year  
2016

Mike Bolsover 9,333,000 - 746,600 -

 

Values of performance share rights over ordinary shares granted, vested and lapsed for Directors and other key 
management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out below:

Name

Value of rights 
granted during  

the year 
US$

Value of rights 
vested during  

the year 
US$

Value of rights 
lapsed during  

the year 
US$

Remuneration 
consisting of rights 

for the year 
%

Mike Bolsover 357,880 58,489 38,018 38% 

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members of key 
management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

 

Balance at  
the start of  
the year

Received  
as part of  

remuneration Additions
Disposal/ 

other

Balance at  
the end of  
the year

Ordinary shares

David Green (a) 69,000 - 231,000 - 300,000 

Mike Bolsover 4,724,561 - - - 4,724,561 

Richard Barker (b) 125,000 - 1,251,723 - 1,376,723 

Matthew Hunter (c) 27,340 - 7,599,087 - 7,626,427 

Robert Benussi (d) - - 330,401 - 330,401 

Hugh Holmes (e) 9,410,000 - - - 9,410,000 

Martin Wright (f) 2,624,744 - - - 2,624,744 

Tim Shepherd 5,378,664 - - - 5,378,664 

Basil Jong (g) - - 52,000 - 52,000 

22,359,309 - 9,464,211 - 31,823,520 

 

(a)  50,000 shares of the 300,000 shares are legally held under Monex Boom Securities (HK) Ltd of which David Green is the beneficial 
holder.

(b)  1,126,723 shares held by Aleste Investments Pty Ltd as trustee for the Barker Superannuation Fund – Richard Barker is a director of 
Aleste Investments Pty Ltd and a member of the superannuation fund. 250,000 shares held by Aleste Investments Pty Ltd as trustee for 
the Mosaic Trust – Richard Barker is a director of Aleste Investments Pty Ltd and a beneficiary of the Mosaic Trust. 
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(c)  82,020 shares held by M & M Hunter Pty Ltd as trustee for the Hunter Family Superannuation Fund being an entity that Matthew Hunter 
controls and is a beneficiary of.

(d)  Held by Benussi Rovigno Pty Ltd as trustee for Benussi Superannuation Fund - Robert Benussi is a director of the Benussi Rovigno Pty Ltd 
and a member of the superannuation fund.

(e)  Held by Champ Star Limited of which is under the control of Hugh Holmes’ wife.

(f)  2,524,744 shares of the 2,624,744 shares are held by Verilink Investment Limited of which Martin Wright is a director and shareholder. 
100,000 shares of the 2,624,744 shares are legally held under Monex Boom Securities (HK) Ltd of which Martin Wright is the beneficial 
holder.

(g)  Held by Basil Jong’s wife.

Performance share rights holding

The number of performance share rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each 
Director and other members of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set 
out below:

Balance at  
the start of  
the year Granted Vested

Expired/  
forfeited/  

other

Balance at  
the end of  
the year

Performance share rights over 
ordinary shares

Mike Bolsover -  9,333,000  (746,600)  (746,600)  7,839,800

- 9,333,000 (746,600) (746,600) 7,839,800 

 

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties

There were no loans to key management personnel and their related parties at the current reporting date.

Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties

There were no other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties at the current reporting 
date.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

SHARES UNDER OPTION

Unissued ordinary shares of Silver Heritage Group Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise  

price
Number  

under option*

26/08/2016 26/08/2019 A$0.4400 29,904,306 

8/08/2017 26/08/2019 A$0.1100 29,904,306 

59,808,612 

 

* 41,995,946 options are held by OL Master (Singapore Fund 1) Pte Limited and 17,812,666 options are held by Orchard Landmark II 
(Singapore Fund I) Pte Limited.

 
No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of 
the Company or of any other body corporate.
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SHARES UNDER PERFORMANCE SHARE RIGHTS

Unissued ordinary shares of Silver Heritage Group Limited under performance share rights at the date of this report are as 
follows:

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise  

price
Number  

under rights

29/09/2017 1/02/2020 US$0.0000 7,839,800 

 

No person entitled to exercise the performance share rights had or has any right by virtue of the performance share right 
to participate in any share issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS

There were no ordinary shares of Silver Heritage Group Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 31 
December 2017 and up to the date of this report.

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF PERFORMANCE SHARE RIGHTS

The following ordinary shares of Silver Heritage Group Limited were issued during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 
up to the date of this report on the exercise of performance share rights granted:

Date performance share rights granted
Exercise  

price
Number of  

shares issued

29/09/2017 US$0.0000 746,600 

Additional information

The earnings of the Group for the two years to 31 December 2017 are summarised below:

2017 
US$’000

2016 
US$’000

Revenue 18,260 16,905
Loss before income tax (14,315) (4,390)
Income tax (124) (186)
Loss after income tax (14,439) (4,576)
 

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return (‘TSR’) are summarised below:

2017 2016
Share price at financial year end (US$) 0.109 0.070
Basic earnings per share (us cents per share) (4.042) (3.056)
Diluted earnings per share (us cents per share) (4.042) (3.056)

BONUS PAYMENTS

Under the laws of Nepal, all Nepalese based companies are required to distribute 10% of their annual net profits to all 
eligible employees subject to a maximum of three months’ salary. This is calculated according to the Nepal financial 
year, which runs from mid-July to mid-July. The Group’s subsidiary in Nepal, SHL Management Services (‘KTM’) Private 
Limited (‘SMSK’, formerly Happy World Pvt Ltd) paid US$65,933 to its eligible employees during the year ended 31 
December 2017 (2016: US$119,532).

Under the Group’s contract with its local Nepalese partner, the Group is required to pay the local partner 10% of net 
profits of SMSK (up to a maximum of NPR10,000,000 per annum for each venue SMSK operates in Nepal). In the financial 
year ended 31 December 2017, the Group paid its local Nepalese partner US$67,460 (2016: US$92,535).
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On 27 December 2017, the Company issued certain Board 
approved payments to a select number of employees 
throughout the Group. These were discretionary payments 
in recognition of performance and contributions 
throughout the year. The total amount of these payments 
was US$186,679. 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

The Company has indemnified the directors and 
executives of the Company for damages and costs 
incurred, in their capacity as a director or executive, for 
which they may be held personally liable, except where 
there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial period, the Group paid a premium 
in respect of a contract to insure the directors and 
executives of the Company against a liability to the extent 
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of 
insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability 
and the amount of the premium.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR

The Company has not, during or since the end of the 
financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the 
auditor of the Company or any related entity against a 
liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a 
premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of 
the Company or any related entity.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or part of those proceedings.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
for non-audit services provided during the financial year 
by the auditor are outlined in note 27 to the financial 
statements.

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-
audit services during the financial year, by the auditor 
(or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is 
compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The Directors are of the opinion that the services as 
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements do 
not compromise the external auditor’s independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following 
reasons:

 ■ all non-audit services have been reviewed and 
approved to ensure that they do not impact the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

 ■ none of the services undermine the general principles 
relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing 
the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting 
as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing 
economic risks and rewards.

OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY WHO ARE FORMER 
PARTNERS OF GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD

There are no officers of the Company who are former 
partners of Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations 
Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-
off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest 
dollar.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
immediately follows this report.

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in 
accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 
2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of 
Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

 

David Green  
Chairman

Mike Bolsover 
Managing Director and  
Chief Executive Officer

28 March 2018
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

 

 

 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389  
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to 
one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the 
member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not 
provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In 
the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries 
and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 

Correspondence to:  
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney  NSW  1230 

T +61 2 8297 2400
F +61 2 9299 4445
E info.nsw@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
to the directors of Silver Heritage Group Limited 
 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor 
for the audit of Silver Heritage Group Limited for the year ended 31 December 2017, I declare that, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 
 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 
 

N J Bradley 
Partner - Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 28 March 2018 
 

 

 
 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



36 | Silver Heritage Group

Tiger Palace Resort / Swimming Pool & Cabana Avenue

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2017 | 37

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Consolidated

Note
2017  

US$’000
2016 

US$’000

Revenue 5 18,260 16,905 

Share of profits of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 308 280 

Expenses

Employee benefits expense (6,029) (6,047)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (2,963) (2,653)

Write off of land deposit 6 (3,130) - 

Impairment of assets 6 (3,730) - 

Restructuring expenses (883) - 

Fund raising expenses (705) - 

Legal and professional fees (1,136) (565)

Gaming royalties and license fees (382) (369)

Advertising and promotion expenses (1,917) (1,968)

Occupancy expense (1,249) (1,287)

Casino costs reimbursement (3,214) (1,709)

Travel and accommodation expenses (606) (621)

Expenses for future projects (1,881) (3,019)

Other expenses (1,260) (1,399)

Finance costs 6 (3,798) (1,938)

Loss before income tax expense (14,315) (4,390)

Income tax expense 7 (124) (186)

Loss after income tax expense for the year (14,439) (4,576)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation 1,237 (846)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,237 (846)

Total comprehensive income for the year (13,202) (5,422)

Loss for the year is attributable to:

Non-controlling interest 7 4 

Owners of Silver Heritage Group Limited (14,446) (4,580)

(14,439) (4,576)

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

Non-controlling interest 7 4 

Owners of Silver Heritage Group Limited (13,209) (5,426)

(13,202) (5,422)

US Cents US Cents

Basic earnings per share 36 (4.042) (3.056)
Diluted earnings per share 36 (4.042) (3.056)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

Note
2017  

US$’000
2016 

US$’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 11,231 16,931 

Trade and other receivables 9 3,275 1,344 

Inventories 10 617 1,727 

Other 11 744 1,660 

Total current assets 15,867 21,662 

Non-current assets

Receivables 12 496 1,113 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 13 238 180 

Property, plant and equipment 14 54,664 28,256 

Intangibles 15 8,129 11,380 

Other 16 797 3,966 

Total non-current assets 64,324 44,895 

Total assets 80,191 66,557 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 9,736 2,573 

Borrowings 18 4,061 178 

Employee benefits 84 56 

Total current liabilities 13,881 2,807 

Non-current liabilities

Payables 19 841 - 

Borrowings 20 24,618 24,327 

Total non-current liabilities 25,459 24,327 

Total liabilities 39,340 27,134 

Net assets 40,851 39,423 

Equity

Contributed capital 21 70,098 55,985 

Reserves 22 4,489 2,735 

Accumulated losses (34,057) (19,611)

Equity attributable to the owners of Silver Heritage Group Limited 40,530 39,109 

Non-controlling interest 321 314 

Total equity 40,851 39,423 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2017
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Consolidated

Contributed
capital

US$’000
Reserves

US$’000

Accumulated
losses

US$’000

Non- 
controlling 

interest 
US$’000

Total  
equity 

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 38,893 877 (14,987) - 24,783 

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for 
the year - - (4,580) 4 (4,576)

Other comprehensive income for the 
year, net of tax - (846) - - (846)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (846) (4,580) 4 (5,422)

Non-controlling interest - - (44) 310 266 

Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs (note 21) 17,159 - - - 17,159 

Fair value of share options granted - 2,704 - - 2,704 

Share redemption (67) - - - (67)

Balance at 31 December 2016 55,985 2,735 (19,611) 314 39,423 

 

Consolidated

Contributed
capital

US$’000
Reswerves

US$’000

Accumulated
losses

US$’000

Non- 
controlling 

interest 
US$’000

Total  
equity 

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2017 55,985 2,735 (19,611) 314 39,423 

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the 
year - - (14,446) 7 (14,439)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax - 1,237 - - 1,237 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,237 (14,446) 7 (13,202)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 21) 14,113 - - - 14,113 

Fair value of share options granted - 517 - - 517 

Balance at 31 December 2017 70,098 4,489 (34,057) 321 40,851 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.F
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Consolidated

Note
2017 

US$’000
2016 

US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 18,620 17,049 

Payments to suppliers and employees (14,948) (13,507)

3,672 3,542 

Payments for future project expenses (1,881) (3,019)  

Interest received 53 53 

Interest and other finance costs paid (1,734) (709)

Income taxes paid (124) (151)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities 34 (14) (284)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments -  (3,277)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (22,414) (13,945)

Payments for intangibles -  (759)

Repayment of loans advanced to related parties -  130 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 57 -  

Dividends from joint venture 250 150 

Net cash used in investing activities (22,107) (17,701)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 21 14,860 19,031 

Proceeds from bank loans 35 4,958 3,337 

Repayment of bonds 35 (2,000) -  

Proceeds from bonds 35 -  10,000 

Transaction cost related to issues of shares or options (1,452) (1,872)

Payments for offer costs -  (459)

Net cash from financing activities 16,366 30,037

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,755) 12,052 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 16,931 6,034 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 55 (1,155)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 11,231 16,931 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The financial statements cover Silver Heritage Group 
Limited (‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as a Group 
consisting of Silver Heritage Group Limited and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The 
financial statements are presented in United States dollars, 
which is Silver Heritage Group Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Silver Heritage Group Limited is a listed public company 
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business are:

Registered  
office

Principal  
place of business

Level 12, 225 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Australia

6/F The Phoenix, 23 Luard 
Road, Wan Chai, 
Hong Kong

A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and 
its principal activities are included in the Directors’ report, 
which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in 
accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 28 March 
2018. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue 
the financial statements.

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

NEW OR AMENDED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED

The Group has adopted all of the new or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or 
Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted.

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the 
financial performance or position of the Group.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
are most relevant to the Group:

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 
107

The Group has adopted AASB 2016-2 from 1 January 2017. 
The amendments to AASB 107 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ 

require the disclosure of changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes.

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Further Annual Improvements 2014-2016 
Cycle

The Group has adopted AASB 2017-2 from 1 January 
2017. The amendments to AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities’ clarify that the disclosure requirements 
of AASB 12 (other than the requirements for summarised 
information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) 
apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are 
classified as held for sale, held for distribution to owners 
in their capacity as owners, or discontinued operations in 
accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations’.

GOING CONCERN

The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
have been prepared on the basis that the Group is a 
going concern, notwithstanding the loss for the period, 
accumulated losses to date and the negative net cash 
used in operating activities. The Directors are of the 
opinion that the Group would be able to meet its working 
capital needs and service its debt obligations as and 
when they fall due from its cash reserve and unused debt 
facility as well as based on its projected cash flows with 
Tiger Palace Resort in full year of operation.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the 
Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit 
oriented entities. These financial statements also comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these 
financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
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Supplementary information about the parent entity is 
disclosed in note 31.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Silver Heritage 
Group Limited as at 31 December 2017 and the results of 
all subsidiaries for the year then ended.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group 
has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between entities in the Group are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

On 25 August 2016, as part of a group re-organisation, 
Silver Heritage Group Limited became the legal parent of 
Silver Heritage Limited. This transaction did not meet the 
definition of a business combination in AASB 3 ‘Business 
Combinations’ and has therefore been accounted 
for in the consolidated financial statements using the 
pooling of interests method. The consolidated financial 
statements represent a continuation of the financial 
statements of Silver Heritage Limited (a legal subsidiary 
within the Group). As a consequence, the comparative 
information contained in the Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income and Statement of 
cash flows represents the consolidated results of Silver 
Heritage Limited for the entire year and Silver Heritage 
Group Limited and its subsidiaries from 25 August 2016 to 
31 December 2016.

The acquisition of other subsidiaries is accounted for 
using the acquisition method of accounting. A change 
in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 
difference between the consideration transferred and 
the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest 
acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to 
the parent.

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of 
subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of 
the Group. Losses incurred by the Group are attributed to 
the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a 
deficit balance.

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it 
derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any 
cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. 
The Group recognises the fair value of the consideration 
received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are presented using the 
‘management approach’, where the information 
presented is on the same basis as the internal reports 
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers 
(‘CODM’). The CODM are responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their 
performance.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements are presented in United States 
dollars, which is Silver Heritage Group Limited’s functional 
and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into United 
States dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at financial year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-US functional currency operations

The assets and liabilities of non-US functional currency 
operations are translated into United States dollars using 
the exchange rates at the reporting date. The revenues 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated 
into United States dollars using the average exchange 
rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the 
transactions, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange 
differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income through the foreign currency reserve in equity.

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss 
when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable.

Casino and gaming equipment revenue from own 
venues

Revenue from casino and gaming equipment from own 
venues is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance 
with the contractual terms of agreement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Share of casino and gaming equipment revenue from 
third party venues

Revenue from shared casino and gaming equipment 
from third party venues is recognised on an accruals basis 
in accordance with the contractual terms of respective 
leasing or revenue sharing agreements. Such revenue is 
calculated at an agreed percentage of net winnings from 
each item of gaming equipment after deducting relevant 
gaming tax.

Resort revenue

Resort revenue is recognised when the service is rendered.

Consulting fees

Consulting fee revenue is recognised when the service is 
rendered.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the 
effective interest method. This is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating 
the interest income over the relevant period using the 
effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 

Rental revenue - equipment gaming machines

Rental revenue is recognised when it is received or when 
the right to receive payment is established. 

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when 
the right to receive payment is established. 

INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax 
payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted 
by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where 
applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for 
temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be 
applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are 
settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, except for:

 ■ when the deferred income tax asset or liability arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset 

or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or

 ■ when the taxable temporary difference is associated 
with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, 
and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable 
profits will be available for the carrying amount to be 
recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to 
the same taxable authority on either the same taxable 
entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle 
simultaneously. 

CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT CLASSIFICATION

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of 
financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected 
to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
Group’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the 
purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 
months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or 
cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged 
or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-
current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected 
to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle; it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be 
settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or 
there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as 
non-current. 

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying 
amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators 
that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount 
of the impairment allowance is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting 
is immaterial. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less 
any provision for impairment. 

INVENTORIES

Spare parts and other consumables are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value on a ‘first in first out’ 
basis. Cost consists of the related purchase and delivery 
costs which are net of rebates and discounts received or 
receivable. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale. 

JOINT VENTURES

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 
Under the equity method, the share of the profits or losses 
of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss and the 

share of the movements in equity is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Investments in joint ventures are 
carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus 
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets 
of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to the joint venture 
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and 
is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 
Income earned from joint venture entities reduce the 
carrying amount of the investment. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to 
write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment over their expected useful lives as follows:

Land Not depreciated
Plant and equipment (new) 5 years
Plant and equipment (second hand) 3 years
Construction and capital works in 
progress

Not depreciated

 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 
to the Group. Gains and losses between the carrying 
amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or 
loss. 

LEASES

The determination of whether an arrangement is or 
contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset. 

A distinction is made between finance leases, which 
effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the 
ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under 
which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such 
risks and benefits. 

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability 
are established at the fair value of the leased assets, or 
if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are allocated between the principal 
component of the lease liability and the finance costs, so 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 

Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are 
depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter 
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
at the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received 
from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business 
combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured 
at their fair value at the date of the acquisition. Intangible 
assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. 
Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortised and are 
subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite 
life intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost 
less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss arising from the derecognition 
of intangible assets are measured as the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of 
finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes 
in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life 
are accounted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation method or period. 

Software licences

Software licences are not amortised when their useful lives 
are assessed to be indefinite and instead tested annually 
for impairment. 

Software licences are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the contract period when their useful lives are 
assessed as finite.

Any change in the useful life assessment from indefinite 
to finite is accounted for from the date of change and 
amortisation commences from the date of change over 
the remaining useful lives of the asset. 

Services agreement

Costs in relation to services agreement are capitalised as 
an asset and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
contract period. 

Indefinite life intangible assets

Intangible assets are not amortised when their useful lives 
are assessed to be indefinite and instead tested annually 
for impairment. Any change in the useful life assessment 

from indefinite to finite is accounted for from the date of 
change and amortisation commences from the date of 
change over the remaining useful lives of the asset. 

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are 
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 
is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific 
to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows 
are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 
The data used for impairment testing procedures are 
directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, 
adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future 
reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors 
are determined individually for each cash-generating unit 
and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk 
profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors.

Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets 
in the cash-generating unit. All assets are subsequently 
reassessed for indications that an impairment loss 
previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment 
charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s 
recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term 
nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 30 days of recognition.

BORROWINGS

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received, net of transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets are 
capitalised as part of the asset during the period of time 
that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave 
not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation 
plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are 
provided to employees. 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, options 
or performance rights over shares, that are provided to 
employees in exchange for the rendering of services. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured 
at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently 
determined using either the Binomial, Black-Scholes or 
the Monte-Carlo simulation pricing model that takes into 
account the exercise price, the term of the option, the 
impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate 
for the term of the option, together with non-vesting 
conditions that do not determine whether the Group 
receives the services that entitle the employees to receive 

payment. No account is taken of any other vesting 
conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised 
as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity 
over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit 
or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value 
of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards 
that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the 
vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss 
for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at 
each reporting date less amounts already recognised in 
previous periods.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in 
determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to 
market conditions are considered to vest irrespective 
of whether or not that market condition has been met, 
provided all other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum 
an expense is recognised as if the modification has 
not been made. An additional expense is recognised, 
over the remaining vesting period, for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the 
Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition 
is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within 
the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied 
during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the 
award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, 
unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as 
if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
remaining expense is recognised immediately. If a new 
replacement award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, the cancelled and new award is treated as if they 
were a modification. 

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation, based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, 
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the 
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their 
present values, where the time value of money is material.

Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain 
to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation 
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may 
not exceed the amount of the related provision.
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No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic 
resources as a result of present obligation is not probable. 
Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless 
the outflow of resources is remote in which case no liability 
is recognised.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, 
is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction 
will take place either: in the principal market; or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For 
non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based 
on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, are used, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, 
into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 
the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at 
each reporting date and transfers between levels are 
determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level 
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, 
external valuers may be used when internal expertise is 
either not available or when the valuation is deemed 
to be significant. External valuers are selected based 
on market knowledge and reputation. Where there is a 
significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from 
one period to another, an analysis is undertaken, which 
includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the 
latest valuation and a comparison, where applicable, 
with external sources of data.

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 
profit attributable to the owners of Silver Heritage Group 
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other 
than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued 
during the financial year. 

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares 
assumed to have been issued for no consideration in 
relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

VALUE ADDED TAX (‘VAT’)/GOODS AND SERVICES 
TAX (‘GST’) AND OTHER SIMILAR TAXES

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of associated VAT/GST, unless the VAT/GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this 
case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of VAT/GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of VAT/GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the tax authority is included in other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The VAT/
GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
or financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the 
amount of VAT/GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
tax authority. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations 
Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-
off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest 
dollar. 

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET MANDATORY OR EARLY 
ADOPTED

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that 
have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Group 
for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 
2017. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new 
or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
most relevant to the Group, are set out below. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. AASB 9 has been 
revised and reissued and completes the project to 
replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’. The reissued standard supersedes all 
previous versions of AASB 9.

AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement 
models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be 
measured at amortised cost if the financial asset is 
held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows where 
the contractual cash flows arise on specified dates and 
are solely payments of principal and interest based 
on the principal outstanding. A financial asset shall be 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is to both hold assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows (as per amortised cost) 
and sell financial assets. All other financial instrument assets 
are to be classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable 
election on initial recognition to present gains and losses 
on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in 
other comprehensive income. For financial liabilities, the 
standard requires the portion of the change in fair value 
that relates to the entity’s own credit risk to be presented 
in other comprehensive income (unless it would create 
an accounting mismatch). This removes situations where 
gains caused by a deterioration in own credit risk on 
financial liabilities held are no longer recognised in profit or 
loss. New hedge accounting requirements are intended to 
more closely align the accounting treatment with the risk 
management activities undertaken by entities enabling 
entities to better reflect these activities through enhanced 
disclosure. 

New impairment requirements will use an ‘expected 
credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model to recognise an allowance 
meaning that it is no longer necessary for a credit event 
to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. 
This will therefore bring forward the timing of recognising 
impairment losses. Impairment will be measured at either 
an amount equal to the 12- month expected credit 
losses, being the portion of lifetime expected credit losses 
that represent the expected credit losses resulting from 

events of default that could occur within the 12 months 
of reporting date, or the full lifetime expected credit 
losses which are the expected credit losses that result 
from all possible default events over the expected life of 
the financial instrument. Expected credit losses shall be 
measured under the 12-month expected credit losses 
method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition in which 
case the lifetime expected credit loss method is adopted. 
The amendments add extensive new disclosures relating 
to the ECL provisions.

The Group will adopt this standard from 1 January 2018 
and its adoption is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Group. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard 
provides a single standard for revenue recognition. 
The core principle of the standard is that an entity will 
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 
standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal 
or implied) to be identified, together with the separate 
performance obligations within the contract; determine 
the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of 
money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction 
price to the separate performance obligations on a 
basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct 
good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct 
observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue 
when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit 
risk will be presented separately as an expense rather 
than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance 
obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains 
control of the goods. For services, the performance 
obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, 
typically for promises to transfer services to customers. 
For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity 
would select an appropriate measure of progress to 
determine how much revenue should be recognised as 
the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with 
customers will be presented in an entity’s statement 
of financial position as a contract liability, a contract 
asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship 
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s 
payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure 
is required to enable users to understand the contracts 
with customers; the significant judgements made in 
applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets 
recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with 
a customer. 
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The Group will adopt this standard from 1 January 2018 
and the impact of its adoption is being assessed by the 
Group.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees will eliminate 
the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases. Subject to exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will 
be capitalised in the statement of financial position, 
measured at the present value of the unavoidable 
future lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 
months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as 
personal computers and small office furniture) where an 
accounting policy choice exists whereby either a ‘right-of-
use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed 
to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to 
the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for 
lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, 
removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease 
expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation 
charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) 
and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability 
(included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the 
lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 
16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under 
AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved 
as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense 
and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For 
classification within the statement of cash flows, the 
lease payments will be separated into both a principal 
(financing activities) and interest (either operating or 
financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, 
the standard does not substantially change how a lessor 
accounts for leases. 

The Group will adopt this standard from 1 January 2019 
and as all leases would be required to be “on balance 
sheet”, it will have an impact on the Group. However 
the quantum of the impact of its adoption is yet to be 
assessed by the Group.

NOTE 3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the 
financial statements. Management continually evaluates 

its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other 
various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements 
and estimates will seldom equal the related actual 
results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to 
the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions 
with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. 
The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial, 
Black-Scholes or the Monte-Carlo simulation model taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
instruments were granted. The accounting estimates 
and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based 
payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period but may impact profit or loss and equity.

Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment 
requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level 
of provision is assessed by taking into account the recent 
sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical 
collection rates and specific knowledge of the individual 
debtor’s financial position. 

Provision for impairment of inventories

The provision for impairment of inventories assessment 
requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level 
of the provision is assessed by taking into account the 
recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and 
other factors that affect inventory obsolescence.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and 
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible 
assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a 
result of technical innovations or some other event. The 
depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where 
the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, 
or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have 
been abandoned or sold will be written off or written 
down.

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Indefinite life intangible assets

The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether 
the indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in note 2. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of 
assumptions, including estimated discount rates based 
on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the 
estimated future cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than indefinite 
life intangible assets

The Group assesses impairment of non-financial assets 
other than indefinite life intangible assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to 
the Group and to the particular asset that may lead 
to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This 
involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-
use calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions 
in which it operates. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income tax. There are 
many transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the 
Group’s current understanding of the tax law. Where the 
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current 
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 

Provision for impairment of construction in progress

The provision for impairment of construction in progress 
requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The 
level of provision is assessed by taking into account the 
expected sales to be generated on completion of the 
asset, the expected timeline and availability of funds to 
complete the asset, specific knowledge in relation to the 
stage of construction and total costs to complete.

NOTE 4. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Identification of reportable operating segments

The Board of Directors with the Executive team (who 
are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers 
(‘CODM’)) considers the business from both a geographic 
and business unit perspective. These operating segments 
are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 

used by the CODM in assessing performance and in 
determining the allocation of resources. Geographically, 
the business in these primary geographic areas are in 
Vietnam, Nepal and Laos. The Group has four reportable 
business unit segments being Phoenix, TMCCK, Tiger 
Palace Resort (‘TPR1’) and Laos (Electronic Gaming 
Machines). The Group’s reportable segments are strategic 
business units that are organised based on their function 
and targeted customer groups. They are managed 
separately because each business unit requires localised 
knowledge, different skill sets and marketing strategies. 

The CODM reviews segment results in the form of Adjusted 
EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation, adjusted for impairment of assets, expenses 
incurred for future projects, one-off exceptional items and 
share-based compensation expense). The accounting 
policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are 
consistent with those adopted in the financial statements. 

The information reported to the CODM is on at least a 
monthly basis. 

Intersegment transactions

Intersegment transactions were made at market 
rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation. 

Intersegment receivables, payables and loans

Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the 
consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable 
and loans payable that earn or incur non-market interest 
are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest 
rates. Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation.

Major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group 
generated revenue of US$12,217,000 (2016: US$7,788,000) 
from one customer, Phoenix of Vietnam. Such revenue 
represented 67% (2016: 46%) of the Group’s total revenue 
for the year and was generated from the share of casino 
and gaming equipment revenue from third party venues. 

A further US$5,194,000 (2016: US$5,594,000) was generated 
from the Group’s own venue, The Millionaire’s Club and 
Casino Kathmandu in Nepal, which was approximately 
29% (2016: 33%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The Group did not earn any revenue in Australia and did 
not have any non-financial assets located in Australia.F
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Operating segment information

Consolidated - 2017
Laos

US$’000

Nepal
TMCCK
US$’000

Nepal
TPR1

US$’000
Vietnam
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Revenue

Gaming revenue - 5,163 48 11,753 16,964 

Other revenue 617 31 69 464 1,181 

Total revenue 617 5,194 117 12,217 18,145 

Total segment revenue 617 5,194 117 12,217 18,145 

Interest revenue 53 

Corporate revenue 62 

Total revenue 18,260 

Segment profit/(loss) 233 206 (560) 6,783 6,662 

Corporate expenses (3,421)

Share of profit from joint venture 308 

Restructuring expenses (883)

Fund raising expenses (705)

Impairment of assets (3,730)

Write off of land deposit (3,130)

Depreciation and amortisation (2,963)

Finance costs (3,798)

Expenses for future projects (1,881)

Legal and professional fees (774)

Loss before income tax expense (14,315)

Income tax expense (124)

Loss after income tax expense (14,439)

Assets

Segment assets 1,789 2,397 59,574 9,167 72,927 

Unallocated assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,702 

Gaming software licences 150 

Other 1,412 

Total assets 80,191 

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 141 225 18,451 925 19,742 

Unallocated liabilities:

Bonds payable 16,429 

Other 3,169 

Total liabilities 39,340 

 

NOTE 4. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Consolidated - 2016

Cambodia
and Laos

US$’000

Nepal
TMCCK
US$’000

Nepal
TPR1

US$’000
Vietnam
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Revenue

Gaming revenue 1,695 5,556 - 7,589 14,840 

Other revenue 1,409 38 - 199 1,646 

Total revenue 3,104 5,594 - 7,788 16,486 

Total segment revenue 3,104 5,594 - 7,788 16,486 

Interest revenue 53 

Corporate revenue 366 

Total revenue 16,905 

Segment profit 1,467 511 - 3,971 5,949 

Corporate expenses (2,790)

Share of profit from joint venture 280 

Depreciation and amortisation (2,653)

Finance costs (1,938)

Expenses for future projects (3,019)

Legal and professional fees (219)

Loss before income tax expense (4,390)

Income tax expense (186)

Loss after income tax expense (4,576)

Assets

Segment assets 1,394 3,754 29,946 8,895 43,989 

Unallocated assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 15,067 

Gaming software licences 3,904 

Other 3,597 

Total assets 66,557 

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 35 385 6,908 421 7,749 

Unallocated liabilities:

Bonds payable 17,747 

Other 1,638 

Total liabilities 27,134 

 

All corporate assets and liabilities (including cash and cash equivalents) are not allocated to the operating segments as 
they are managed on an overall group basis.

The CODM reviews segment results in the form of adjusted EBITDA as such depreciation and amortisation have not been 
allocated to the individual operating segments.
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Geographical information

Geographical non-current 
assets

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Cambodia and Laos 1,575 1,077 

Nepal 54,311 29,515 

Vietnam 7,279 7,887 

63,165 38,479 

The geographical non-current assets above are exclusive of, where applicable, financial instruments, deferred tax assets, 
post-employment benefits assets and rights under insurance contracts.

NOTE 5. REVENUE
 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Sales revenue

Casino and gaming equipment revenue from own venues 5,211 5,556 

Share of casino and gaming equipment revenue from third party venues 11,753 9,284 

Resort revenue 69 - 

17,033 14,840 

Other revenue

Consulting fees 42 49 

Interest 53 53 

Rental revenue - equipment gaming machines 617 - 

Other revenue 515 1,963 

1,227 2,065 

Revenue 18,260 16,905 

NOTE 4. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 6. EXPENSES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 2,090 1,837 

Amortisation

Software licences 56 -  

Services agreement 817 816 

Total amortisation 873 816 

Total depreciation and amortisation 2,963 2,653 

Impairment of assets

Plant and equipment 312 -  

Software licences 2,079 -  

Indefinite life intangible asset 299 -  

Advanced project costs 1,040 -  

Total impairment of assets 3,730 -  

Write off of assets

Land deposit 3,130 -  

Finance costs

Interest on shareholder loans 2,844 1,624 

Interest on bank loan and supplier term payment arrangement 1,324 578 

Effective interest on bonds and options 954 314 

Amount capitalised @ rate 11.58% per annum (2016: 9.8%) per annum (1,324) (578)

Finance costs expensed 3,798 1,938 

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (23) 22 

Rental expense relating to operating leases

Minimum lease payments 700 672 

Superannuation expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 73 36 

NOTE 7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Loss before income tax expense (14,315) (4,390)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% (4,295) (1,317)

Deferred tax not recognised on losses incurred outside Australia 4,295 1,317 

Non-Australian taxes on overseas profits 124 186 

Income tax expense 124 186 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Tax losses not recognised

Unused tax losses in Nepalese subsidiaries on which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised 2,167 441 

Potential tax benefit @ 25% 542 110 

 

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial position. These tax 
losses can only be utilised in the future if the Nepalese subsidiaries generate subsequent taxable profits.

NOTE 8. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Cash on hand 3,144 1,253 

Cash at bank 6,905 8,261 

Cash on deposit 1,182 7,417 

11,231 16,931 

 

The cash on deposit of US$1,182,000 (2016: US$7,417,000) is held in a bank account that is jointly controlled by the Group 
and the Group’s bondholder. These funds can only be withdrawn with the approval of the bondholder, and can only 
be used for the development of the Group’s Tiger Palace Resort project in Bhairahawa, Nepal or other purposes at the 
discretion of the bondholder.

NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Trade receivables 23 24 

Other receivables 3,252 1,320 

3,275 1,344 

 
All receivables are short term. The net carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.

Impairment of receivables

There were no amounts either past due or impaired as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORIES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Spare parts - at cost 324 1,727 

Other consumables - at cost 293 - 

617 1,727 

 

In 2017, a total of US$304,000 (2016: US$56,000) resulting from write down of inventories was included in the profit or loss as 
an expense.

NOTE 11. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Prepayments 610 497 

Other deposits 134 1,163 

744 1,660 

NOTE 12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Other receivables 496 1,113 

NOTE 13. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED  
FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Investment in joint venture 238 180 

 

Refer to note 33 for further information on interest in joint venture.F
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Land - at cost 2,173 2,014 

Building - at cost 36,686 - 

Plant and equipment - at cost 23,641 9,569 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (7,524) (6,001)

Less: Impairment (312) - 

15,805 3,568 

Construction in progress - at cost - 21,886 

Capital works in progress - at cost - 788 

54,664 28,256 

 

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

Consolidated
Land

US$’000
Building
US$’000

Plant and 
equipment

US$’000

Construction
in progress

US$’000

Capital works
in progress

US$’000
Total

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 2,034 - 4,142 9,968 - 16,144 

Additions 26 - 1,018 12,113 788 13,945 

Disposals - - (256) - - (256)

Exchange differences (46) - (14) (195) - (255)

Transfers in/(out) - - 515 - - 515 

Depreciation expense - - (1,837) - - (1,837)

Balance at 31 December 2016 2,014 - 3,568 21,886 788 28,256 

Additions - 13,854 13,968 - - 27,822 

Disposals - - (57) - - (57)

Exchange differences 159 813 73 - - 1,045 

Impairment - - (312) - - (312)

Transfers in/(out) - 22,019 655 (21,886) (788) - 

Depreciation expense - - (2,090) - - (2,090)

Balance at 31 December 2017 2,173 36,686 15,805 - - 54,664 

 

The Building addition relates to the construction of the Tiger Palace Resort. The Tiger Palace Resort commenced full 
operations on 28 December 2017, the same day the casino licence was issued. The impairment of US$312,000 relates to 
the pro-rata apportionment to all TMCCK’s non-current tangible asset classes. Refer to note 15 for further details.
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NOTE 15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLES 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Software licences - at cost 4,034 4,034 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (56) - 

Less: Impairment (2,079) - 

1,899 4,034 

Services agreement - at cost 9,000 9,000 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (3,082) (2,265)

5,918 6,735 

Indefinite life intangible asset* - at cost 611 611 

Less: Impairment (299) - 

312 611 

8,129 11,380 
 

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

Consolidated

Software 
licences 
US$’000

Services 
agreement 

US$’000

Indefinite life 
intangible 

asset* 
US$’000

Total 
US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 3,275 7,551 611 11,437 

Additions 759 - - 759 

Amortisation expense - (816) - (816)

Balance at 31 December 2016 4,034 6,735 611 11,380 

Impairment (2,079) - (299) (2,378)

Amortisation expense (56) (817) - (873)

Balance at 31 December 2017 1,899 5,918 312 8,129 

 

* The indefinite life intangible asset represents the Group’s acquisition of SHL Management Services (KTM) Private Limited (formerly, 
Happy World Pvt. Ltd.) to obtain a casino licence in Nepal. 

Impairment testing

Software licences

An impairment loss of US$2,079,000 was recognised as an expense in the profit and loss during the financial year ended 
31 December 2017 as follows:

(a) US$2,031,000 (2016: US$nil) for software licences relating to unused Inspired EGM Software Licences which are not 
likely to be used to produce any economic value in the foreseeable future; and

(b) US$48,000 (2016: US$nil) relating to the pro-rata apportionment of the non- current assets of The Millionaire’s Club & 
Casino, Nepal (‘TMCCK’).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Indefinite life Intangible asset and property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of the assets of the Group’s cash-generating unit TMCCK of US$664,000 is its value-in-use, 
determined based on management’s expectation that the new entrants in the market will significantly reduce revenues 
and profits in the future years. The value-in-use calculation using a discounted cash flow model, based on a 1 year 
projection period approved by management and extrapolated for a further 4 years using a steady rate, together with a 
terminal value.

Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is most sensitive.

The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model:

(a)  19.1% pre-tax discount rate; and

(b)  3.5% per annum projected growth rate.

The pre-tax discount rate reflects management’s estimate of the time value of money and the Group’s weighted 
average cost of capital adjusted for TMCCK, the risk free rate and the volatility of the share price relative to market 
movements.

Management believes the projected 3.5% revenue growth rate is prudent and justified, based on the reduced market 
share offset by an improved hold rate.

Based on the above, an impairment charge of US$659,000 (2016: US$nil) has been determined in relation to TMCCK’s 
assets for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

The impairment charge has been apportioned to TMCCK’s assets as follows:

 ■ Software licences - US$48,000

 ■ Indefinite life Intangible asset - US$299,000

 ■ Property, plant and equipment - US$312,000 

Although the management expects the Group’s market share to stabilise over the forecast period, a further decline 
in the market share by 20% would result in a further impairment of TMCCK’s assets. Revenue growth is expected to 
be challenging and a modest 3.5% growth per annum year on year was adopted. Compared to the prior year, 
management have reduced the estimation of the increase in operating costs and overheads which was impacted by a 
significant one off increase in electricity tariff structure and also effort by the Group to contain costs.

The impairment is non-cash and has no impact on the Group’s cash flows. However, it impacts on the Group’s net results 
for the year.

NOTE 16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Advanced project costs 1,040 1,040 

Deposit for land 3,130 2,899 

Impairment of advanced project costs and write of deposit for land (4,170) -  

Deposits - other 797 -  

Other non-current assets -  27 

797 3,966 

Advanced project costs

Advanced project costs represented amount paid for construction drawings for the hotels to be built adjacent to Tiger 
Palace. An impairment loss of US$1,040,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 as the 
future economic benefit could not be justified as there was no definitive time for its development. 

Deposit for land

Deposit for land represented deposit paid towards the acquisition of land at the site of Tiger Palace Resort Jhapa, which is 
the Group’s planned second resort located along the Eastern part of the India-Nepal border. The deposit was written off 
and an impairment loss of US$3,130,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017, as it is likely 
that the Group will not acquire the land nor negotiate an extension by 31 March 2018 and the deposit may be forfeited.
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 NOTE 17. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Trade payables 2,124 135 

Accrued expenses 3,233 814 

Accrued interest on bonds 1,732 965 

Other payables 2,647 659 

9,736 2,573 
 
Refer to note 24 for further information on financial instruments.

All payables are short term. The net carrying value of trade and other payables is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.

NOTE 18. CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Bank loans 2,310 178 

Bonds payable 1,751 - 

4,061 178 
 

Refer to note 20 for further information on assets pledged as security and financing arrangements. 

Refer to note 24 for further information on financial instruments.

NOTE 19. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PAYABLES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Accrued interest on bonds 363 -  

Other payables 478 -  

841 -
 
Refer to note 24 for further information on financial instruments.

NOTE 20. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Bank loans 9,940 6,580 

Bonds payable 14,678 17,747 

24,618 24,327 

 
Refer to note 24 for further information on financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Bank loans

The Group has a lending facility with a consortium of Nepalese Banks of NPR 1,110,000,000 (US$10,792,000) (2016: NPR 
750,000,000; US$6,758,000) which is used for the construction of the integrated resort at Bhairahawa, Nepal. The term 
of the loan is repayable in 38 quarterly instalments with the first instalment due on 22 April 2018. Interest is paid on a 
quarterly basis at a variable rate, which for the period averaged 11.58% p.a. (2016: 9.8% p.a.).

The Group also has a one-year demand loan facility with two Nepalese Banks of up to NPR 280,000,000 (US$2,722,000) 
of which NPR 150,000,000 (US$1,458,000) (2016: none) was drawn. Interest is paid on a quarterly basis at a variable rate, 
which for the period averaged 12% p.a. 

Bonds payable

Bonds payable represent bonds issued on 25 August 2016 for US$20,000,000. On 25 August 2017, US$2,000,000 of bonds 
were redeemed. This partial redemption reduced the original principal amount of the bonds to US$18,000,000. As at 31 
December 2017, the total fair value of the debt was US$16,429,000 (31 December 2016: US$17,747,000). The bonds have 
an interest rate of 8% p.a. payable semi-annually in arrears and are redeemable by the bondholders at any time prior to 
the date of maturity at a redemption price that will entitle the bondholders to an internal rate of return equal to 15% p.a. 
on the original principal amount of the bonds (calculated on a semi-annual basis) for the period from the date of issue 
to the date of redemption. 

In connection with the bondholder agreeing to amend the financial covenants in June 2017, the maturity dates of the 
bonds were amended from US$20,000,000 on or before 24 August 2019 to the following:

 ■ US$2,000,000 on or before 31 December 2018;

 ■ US$3,000,000 on or before 31 March 2019;

 ■ US$4,000,000 on or before 30 June 2019; and

 ■ the balance on or before 24 August 2019. 

Due to the bondholders agreeing to amend the financial covenants, the Group was not in breach of any of the financial 
covenants during the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Under the instrument setting out the terms of the bonds, Silver Heritage Limited is required to ensure that it will maintain 
the following financial covenants: (i) a consolidated net debt to tangible net worth ratio below agreed levels, (ii) a 
consolidated net debt to the last 12 months’ consolidated earnings before interest, tax, deductions and amortisation 
ratio below agreed levels, (iii) an interest coverage ratio above agreed levels, and (iv) a minimum aggregate cash 
balance above an agreed level. The financial covenants are tested quarterly on the basis of management accounts 
delivered to the bondholder within 30 days of the end of the relevant quarter.

Security has been granted in favour of Madison Pacific Trust Limited, the security trustee, to hold on trust for the 
bondholders. Security includes a debenture over certain of the Group’s assets including real estate, shares, key 
contracts, intellectual property, plant and machinery, bank accounts and contracts of insurance. 

In addition to amending the maturity dates of the bonds, the bondholders were also granted 29,904,306 options over 
the ordinary shares in the Company, with an exercise price of A$0.11 on 8 August 2017, exercisable at any time until 26 
August 2019 (the ‘2017 Options’). 

The 2017 Options are in addition to the 29,904,306 options over the ordinary shares in the Company with an exercise 
price of A$0.44, as follows (the ‘2016 Options’):

11,961,722 Tranche A options, granted on 26 August 2016, exercise period 26 August 2017 to 26 August 2019

17,942,584 Tranche C options, granted on 7 October 2016, exercise period 26 August 2017 to 26 August 2019

Both the 2017 Options and the 2016 Options will expire on 26 August 2019. Unexercised options will automatically lapse 
on this date.

The exercise price of the option will be adjusted in the following circumstances:

 ■ pro rata issue – if the Company makes a pro rata issue of shares, to existing shareholders (except a bonus issue), and 
the subscription price of a share under the pro rata issue is less than 92.5% of the average of the volume weighted 
average price (‘VWAP’) per share for each of the 5 trading days ending on the day before the announcement of 
the pro rata issue, the exercise price of the options will be reduced proportionally (in accordance with the ASX Listing 
Rules); or
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 ■ bonus issue – if the Company makes a bonus issue of shares or equity securities (other than an issue in lieu of, or in 
satisfaction of, dividends or by way of dividend reinvestment), the number of shares which must be issued on exercise 
of an option will be increased proportionally and no change will be made to the exercise price.

Restrictions on issues of shares and other securities – until such time as all of the options have been exercised or otherwise 
expired, the Company must not do the following without the prior consent of bond holder(s) representing 75% or more of 
the aggregate number of options for the time being outstanding:

 ■ issue new shares (other than under a pro rata issue or a bonus issue as defined in the ASX Listing Rules) at a price 
which is discounted by more than 10% of the VWAP per share for the 5 trading days ending on the day before 
announcement of the issuance; or

 ■ grant or issue any option, warrant, security, right or other instrument convertible into or exchangeable for more than 
10% of the fully diluted capital of the Company in any 12 month period.

Both the 2017 Options and the 2016 Options are accounted for in the option reserve in equity. 

Total secured liabilities

The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Bank loans 12,250 6,758 

 

Assets pledged as security

The lenders under the bank loans have taken security over all assets that Tiger One Pvt Ltd presently owns, or will own in 
the future, as well as it receivables.

In addition, the subsidiaries of the Group have provided a corporate guarantee in favour of the lenders for repayment of 
the facility. 

Financing arrangements

Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit: 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Total facilities

Bank loans 13,514 6,758 

Used at the reporting date

Bank loans 12,250 6,758 

Unused at the reporting date

Bank loans 1,264 - 

 

Bank loan arrangements

 ■ Bank loan facility denominated in NPR, current facility limit NPR 1,110,000,000 (US$10,791,000) (31 December 2016: 
NPR 750,000,000 (US$7,291,000)) 

 ■ One-year demand loan facility of up to NPR 280,000,000 (US$2,722,000) (31 December 2016: none)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 21. EQUITY - CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL
 

Consolidated

2017
Shares

2016
Shares

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Ordinary shares - fully paid 585,241,630 190,285,153 70,098 55,985 

 

Movements in ordinary share capital 

Details Date Shares Issue price US$’000

Balance 1 January 2016 32,001,288 38,893 

Conversion of shares in Silver Heritage Limited to 
shares in Silver Heritage Group Limited

25 August 2016 95,838,864 US$0.0000 -

Original subscriber share issued in Silver Heritage 
Group Limited

25 August 2016 1 US$0.0000 -

Shares issued in Silver Heritage Group Limited 25 August 2016 62,500,000 US$0.3045 19,031 

Share redemption 9 September 2016 (55,000) US$1.2168 (67)

Less: share issue transaction costs - US$0.0000 (1,872)

Balance 31 December 2016 190,285,153 55,985 

Issue of shares 10 July 2017 206,533,143 US$0.0383 7,914 

Issue of shares - partial settlement of sub-
underwriting fees

10 July 2017 8,518,727 US$0.0204 (174)

Issue of shares 25 August 2017 174,037,162 US$0.0399 6,946 

Issue of shares - partial settlement of sub-
underwriting fees

25 August 2017 5,867,445 US$0.0289 (170)

Less: share issue transaction costs - US$0.0000 (403)

Balance 31 December 2017 585,241,630 70,098 

 

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and 
the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote.

Share buy-back

There is no current on-market share buy-back.
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Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is 
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group is subject to certain covenants in financing arrangements and meeting these is given priority in all capital risk 
management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year.

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 2016 Annual Report.

NOTE 22. EQUITY - RESERVES 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Foreign currency reserve (648) (1,885)

Share-based payments and options reserve 5,137 4,620 

4,489 2,735 

 

Foreign currency reserve

The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations to United States dollars. 

Share-based payments and options reserve

The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and Directors as part of their 
remuneration, and other options granted to parties as part of their compensation for services. 

Movements in reserves

Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

Consolidated

Foreign 
currency 

US$’000

Share-based 
payments 

and options  
US$’000

Total 
US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 (1,039) 1,916 877 

Foreign currency translation (846) - (846)

Fair value of share options granted - 2,704 2,704 

Balance at 31 December 2016 (1,885) 4,620 2,735 

Foreign currency translation 1,237 - 1,237 

Fair value of share options granted - 517 517 

Balance at 31 December 2017 (648) 5,137 4,489 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 23. EQUITY - DIVIDENDS
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk 
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include 
sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Board 
of Directors (‘the Board’). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the Group’s 
operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk 
through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting. 

The Group operated mainly in South East Asia and is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk arising from various 
foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Nepalese Rupee. 

At 31 December 2017, if the foreign currencies below had weakened/strengthened against the US dollar with all other 
variables held constant, the effect on profit and equity would have been as follows as a result of foreign exchange 
losses/gains on translation of the foreign currency denominated trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other payables: 

Consolidated – 2017 % change

Effect on 
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity % change

Effect on 
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity

Australian Dollar 5% (153,754) (153,754) 5% 153,754 153,754 

Thailand Baht 5% (4,694) (4,694) 5% 4,694 4,694 

Philippine Peso 5% (16,611) (16,611) 5% 16,611 16,611 

Nepalese Rupee 5% (5,999) (5,999) 5% 5,999 5,999 

(181,058) (181,058) 181,058 181,058 
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Consolidated – 2016 % change

Effect on 
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity % change

Effect on 
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity

Australian Dollar 5% (205,469) (205,469) 5% 205,469 205,469 

Thailand Baht 5% (56,811) (56,811) 5% 56,811 56,811 

Philippine Peso 5% (94,223) (94,223) 5% 94,223 94,223 

Nepalese Rupee 5% (39,253) (39,253) 5% 39,253 39,253 

(395,756) (395,756) 395,756 395,756 

Price risk

The Group is not exposed to any significant price risk. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 
to interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

For the Group the bank loans outstanding, totalling US$12,250,000 (2016: US$6,758,000), are principal and interest 
payment loans. Quarterly cash outlays of approximately US$355,000 (2016: US$166,000) per quarter are required to 
service the interest payments. An official increase/decrease in interest rates of 100 (2016: 100) basis points would have 
an adverse/favourable effect on profit before tax of US$14,000 (2016: US$6,640) per annum. The percentage change 
is based on the expected volatility of interest rates using market data and analysts forecasts. In addition, minimum 
principal repayments of US$2,310,000 (2016: US$178,000) are due during the year ending 31 December 2018 (2016: 31 
December 2017). 

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, 
net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the 
financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral.

Impairment of receivables

The Group has recognised a loss of US$nil (2016: US$nil) in profit or loss in respect of impairment of receivables for the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

Past due but not impaired

Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to US$nil as at 31 
December 2017 (2016: US$nil). 

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. F
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Financing arrangements

Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date: 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Bank loans 1,264 - 

 

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as 
remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of 
financial position.

Consolidated - 2017

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
%

1 year or less
US$’000

Between  
1 - 2 years

US$’000

Between  
2 to 5 years

US$’000
Over 5 years

US$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities
US$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 2,124 - - - 2,124 

Other payables - 2,647 478 - - 3,125

Interest-bearing - variable

Bank loans 11.58% 3,595 2,221 5,875 6,892 18,583

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Bonds payable 8.00% 3,857 20,642 - - 24,499

Total non-derivatives 12,223 23,341 5,875 6,892 48,331

Consolidated - 2016

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
%

1 year or  
less

US$’000

Between 1 
and 2 years

US$’000

Between 2 
and 5 years

US$’000
Over 5 years

US$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities
US$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 135 - - - 135 

Other payables - 659 - - - 659 

Interest-bearing - variable

Bank loans 9.80% 1,486 1,304 1,236 5,673 9,699 

Interest-bearing - fixed rate

Bonds payable 8.00% 1,600 1,600 21,200 - 24,400 

Total non-derivatives 3,880 2,904 22,436 5,673 34,893 

Interest payable on the bonds is a cash coupon of 8% payable semi-annually in arrears. The contractual internal rate of 
return of the bonds is 15% with the balance of the interest payable on repayment of principal amounts.

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 25. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature. 

The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities.

NOTE 26. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set 
out below: 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,328,871 1,511,829 

Post-employment benefits 73,254 60,718 

Termination benefits 714,920 - 

Share-based payments 244,870 - 

2,361,915 1,572,547 

NOTE 27. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the Company: 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Audit services - Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

Audit or review of the financial statements 153,902 172,792 

Other services - Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

Due-diligence for initial public offering - 352,676 

Other accounting, taxation and reporting advice 173,813 17,867 

173,813 370,543 

327,715 543,335 

NOTE 28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As of the date of this report, the Group remains in discussion with Mr Rajendra Bajgain, as to his role a consultant/local 
expert, director and shareholder to SHL Management Services (KTM) Pvt Limited, one of the Group’s Nepal incorporated 
subsidiaries. This may result in legal actions for and against Mr Rajendra Bajgain.

Various warranty and legal claims were brought against the Group during the year. Unless recognised as a provision, 
management considers these claims to be unjustified and the probability that they will require settlement at the Group’s 
expense to be remote. This evaluation is consistent with external independent legal advice.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 29. COMMITMENTS 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Lease commitments - operating

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 775 748 

One to five years 2,761 2,065 

More than five years 359 1,304 

3,895 4,117 

 

Capital commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2017 (2016: US$nil).

NOTE 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Parent entity

Silver Heritage Group Limited is the parent entity. 

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 32. 

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are set out in note 33. 

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 26 and the remuneration report included in the 
Directors’ report. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

Consolidated

2017
US$

2016
US$

Other income:

Management fee received from Gaming Concepts Group 42,225 49,500 

 

Receivable from and payable to related parties

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:
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Consolidated

2017
US$

2016
US$

Non-current receivables:

Amount due from minority shareholders of SHL Management Services (KTM) Private Limited 495,938 226,926 

 

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 

Subsidiaries

On 20 November 2017 a dormant subsidiary, Gold & Silver Heritage Co. Limited was transferred to Tim Shepherd, who 
held the role of President, Business Development and Marketing on 30 September 2017. 

NOTE 31. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Loss after income tax (1,961) (809)

Total comprehensive income (1,961) (809)

 

Statement of financial position 

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Total current assets 3,221 4,458 

Total assets 3,281 4,458 

Total current liabilities (68,903) (55,242)

Total liabilities (68,903) (55,242)

Equity

Contributed capital 75,219 60,645 

Foreign currency reserve (226) (124)

Share-based payments and options reserve (32) (5)

Accumulated losses (2,777) (816)

Total equity 72,184 59,700 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

Other than guaranteeing the debts of its subsidiaries pursuant to the bonds as described in note 20 to the financial 
statements, the parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016. 

Contingent liabilities

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. 

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment

The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016. 

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2, except for the 
following:

 ■ Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

 ■ Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an 
indicator of an impairment of the investment.

NOTE 32. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:

Ownership interest

Name
Principal place of business /
Country of incorporation

2017
%

2016
%

Silver Heritage Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 

SHL Leisure Management (HK) Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 

Gold & Silver Heritage Co. Limited* Thailand - 100% 

Silver Heritage (Cambodia) Limited Cambodia 100% 100% 

Silver Heritage (Lao) Sole Co. Ltd Lao People’s Democratic Republic 100% 100% 

Prime Link Services Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 

Ridgeway International Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 

Silver Heritage Technical Services Inc. The Philippines 100% 100% 

Silver Heritage Vietnam Company Limited Vietnam 100% 100% 

SHL (Macau) Limited** Macau SAR, China - 100% 

Silver Heritage Investment Pvt. Limited Nepal 100% 100% 

SHL Management Services (KTM) Private Limited Nepal 90% 90% 

Tiger One Pvt. Limited Nepal 100% 100% 

Tiger Two Pvt. Limited Nepal 100% 100% 

* Dormant entity disposed of on 20 November 2017

** Dormant entity liquidated on 12 December 2017 

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests has not been provided as they are 
not material to the Group.
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NOTE 33. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE 

Interest in joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to the joint venture 
that is material to the Group is set out below: 

Ownership interest

Name
Principal place of business /
Country of incorporation

2017
%

2016
%

Gaming Concepts Group Limited Belize 50% 50% 

 

Gaming Concepts Group Limited is an unlisted company and therefore no quoted market prices are available for its 
shares. 

The principal activity of Gaming Concepts Group Limited is the production and distribution of gaming products, gaming 
management services and consulting.

Summarised financial information 

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Summarised statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents 251 291 

Other current assets 211 227 

Non-current assets 157 92 

Total assets 619 610 

Current liabilities 144 249 

Total liabilities 144 249 

Net assets 475 361 

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Revenue 2,793 4,276 

Other expenses (2,179) (3,645)

Profit before income tax 614 631 

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 614 631 

Reconciliation of the Group’s carrying amount

Opening carrying amount 180 150 

Share of dividends paid (250) (150)

Return of capital injected - (130)

Share of profit from joint venture 308 280 

Write-back of provision against investment - 30 

Closing carrying amount 238 180 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 34. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH (USED 
IN)/FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Loss after income tax expense for the year (14,439) (4,576)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 2,963 2,653 

Share-based payments 517 313 

Foreign exchange differences 669 22 

Finance costs non-cash 1,110 -  

Impairment of assets 3,730 -  

Write off of land deposit 3,130 -  

Joint venture - share of profit (308) (280)

Fair value loss on bond -  137 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in trade and other receivables 413 258 

Decrease in inventories 1,110 274 

Decrease/(increase) in other operating assets (85) 175 

Increase in trade and other payables 1,148 744 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 28 (4)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (14) (284)

NOTE 35. CHANGES IN BORROWINGS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Consolidated

Bank
loans

US$’000

Bonds
payable
US$’000

Convertible
bonds

US$’000
Total

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 3,553 - 9,472 13,025 

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 3,337 20,000 (10,000) 13,337 

Exchange differences (132) - - (132)

Changes in fair values - (2,554) - (2,554)

Other changes* - 301 528 829 

Balance at 31 December 2016 6,758 17,747 - 24,505 

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 4,958 (2,000) - 2,958 

Exchange differences 534 - - 534 

Fair value of options issued - (272) - (272)

Other changes* - 954 - 954 

Balance at 31 December 2017 12,250 16,429 - 28,679 
  

* Other changes include amortisation.
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NOTE 36. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Consolidated

2017
US$’000

2016
US$’000

Loss after income tax (14,439) (4,576)

Non-controlling interest (7) (4)

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Silver Heritage Group Limited (14,446) (4,580)

 

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating  
basic earnings per share 357,432,877 149,874,193 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating  
diluted earnings per share 357,432,877 149,874,193 

 

US Cents US Cents

Basic earnings per share (4.042) (3.056)

Diluted earnings per share (4.042) (3.056)

 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the comparative period has been adjusted to give effect to 
reorganisation which occurred during the financial year. 

59,808,612 (2016: 29,904,306) options are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are 
anti-dilutive for the financial year ended 31 December 2017. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per 
share in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

There is a formal LTI plan in place which was adopted by the Board prior to listing. Under the LTI plan the provision of any 
incentives is at the discretion of the Board. In exercising its discretion, the Board has approved the grant of performance 
share rights subjects to hurdles as disclosed in the remuneration report.

Set out below are summaries of performance share rights granted under the plan: 

2017

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/

 other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0000 - 9,333,000 (746,600) (746,600) 7,839,800

- 9,333,000 (746,600) (746,600) 7,839,800

 

For the performance share rights granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine 
the fair value at the grant date, are as follows: 

Grant date Expiry date
Share price

at grant date
Exercise

price
Expected

volatility
Dividend

yield
Risk-free

interest rate
Fair value

at grant date

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 - - - US$0.078 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 - - - US$0.051 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 - - - US$0.078 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 28.27% - 1.89% US$0.078 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 30.77% - 1.92% US$0.006 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 33.69% - 2.09% US$0.005 

29/09/2017 01/02/2020 US$0.0780 US$0.0000 31.96% - 2.05% US$0.045 

 

There were no performance share rights granted during the year ended 31 December 2016.

NOTE 38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

On 3 January 2018, the Company issued 746,600 shares to Mike Bolsover as a result of vesting of performance share 
rights in accordance with the LTI plan adopted by the Company at the time of its listing on the ASX and its remuneration 
strategy.

On 22 February 2018, the Group announced the termination of its consultancy agreement with one of its Nepal based 
strategic partners, Mr Rajendra Bajgain (‘Mr Bajgain’). Mr Bajgain remains a director and shareholder of the Company’s 
Nepal incorporated subsidiary, SHL Management Services (KTM) Pvt Limited, which is the licence holder for casino 
operations at both Tiger Palace and TMCCK. Discussion with Mr Bajgain in regards to his relationship with the Company 
are on-going. Whilst the Company remains confident that it will be successful in settling its relationship with Mr Bajgain, it 
is likely that the Company will be required to seek new Nepal based strategic partnerships. The Group’s ability to secure 
new and successful Nepal based strategic partnerships is likely to have a significant impact to the Group’s business 
strategy and future projects in Nepal. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
31 December 2017

In the Directors’ opinion: 

 ■ the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 ■ the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements; 

 ■ the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 
December 2017 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

 ■ there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable. 

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

 

On behalf of the Directors

 

David Green  Mike Bolsover 
Chairman  Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

28 March 2018

Sydney
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
31 December 2017

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 

Correspondence to:  
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney  NSW  1230 

T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to 
one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the 
member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not 
provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In 
the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries 
and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Directors of Silver Heritage Group Limited  
 
Report on the audit of the financial report 
 
Opinion  
We have audited the financial report of Silver Heritage Group Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and  
 

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have 
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Revenue Recognition – Note 2 & 5  
The Group has a number of income streams, the 
most significant being revenue recognised in the 
Group’s share of casino and gaming equipment 
revenue from third party venues ($11.8m) and casino 
and gaming equipment revenue from own venues 
($5.2m). 
 
Revenue is derived from high volume and typically 
lower value transactions and is dependent on games 
of chance. 
 
The existence of revenue is a key audit matter due to 
the nature of revenues being earnt through cash 
sales in electronic gaming machines and tables and 
the risk that not all revenue earned is recorded 
appropriately. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 performing a walkthrough of the gaming revenue 

reconciliation process which involved observing 
and re-performing this control; 

 attending and observing the cash count close 
process at both Phoenix (in Vietnam) and the 
Millionaires Club (in Nepal) as this is an integral 
part of the reconciliation process; 

 reviewing of revenue recognition policies for 
compliance with AASB 118: Revenues as well as 
consistency with prior period; 

 testing gaming revenue by substantiating 
revenue recognised through to supporting 
documentation and reconciliations; 

 performing analytical procedures over gaming 
revenues disaggregated based on business unit 
and by month;  

 reviewing the terms and conditions of the 
executed agreements and ensuring that the 
accounting treatment has been correctly applied; 
and 

 assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures within the financial statements. 

Tiger One Project Costs – Note 14  
The Group has finished building a casino in Nepal 
and has incurred $14.7m of construction costs during 
the year which have been recognised as additions to 
Buildings within Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
In accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and 
Equipment, the capitalisation of construction costs 
must meet the prescribed criteria in order to be 
classified as an asset. 
 
The area is a key audit matter due to the risk that 
capitalised construction costs include fictitious 
additions as well as risk of understatement due to 
achieving budget on construction being tied to 
management compensation. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 reviewing the nature of costs capitalised in 

relation  to the project; 
 selecting a sample of costs incurred during the 

period and tracing back to source documentation; 
 ensuring the sample selected is consistent with 

the capitalisation criteria prescribed in AASB116; 
 vouching a sample of suppliers to ensure the 

supplier was registered in Nepal;  
 selecting a sample of expenses to ensure they 

did not relate to Tiger Palace;  
 compare budget for Tiger Palace at 30 June 2017 

to 31 December and understand movements in 
budgeted costs; and  

 assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures within the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

 

 

Impairment of non-current assets including 
intangible assets –Notes 14, 15 and 16  

 

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets requires that an 
entity shall assess at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, the entity shall 
estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. 
Forecasting future cash flows and applying an 
appropriate discount rate involves a high degree of 
estimation and judgement by management. 
 
In accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets 
the Group have determined that impairment 
indicators exist and have performed an impairment 
assessment on all its cash generating units (CGUs) 
and non-current assets with the scope of the 
standard. 
 
An impairment expense of $3.73m has been 
recorded in the financial statements in relation to 
property, plant and equipment ($312k), intangible 
assets ($2.37m) and other non-current assets 
($4.17m). 
 
The area is a key audit matter due the quantum of 
this impairment and the judgement exercised by the 
Group in determining the recoverable amount of each 
of the assets and calculating the impairment charges. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 obtaining an understanding of management’s 

processes and controls related to the assessment 
of impairment, including the calculation of the 
recoverable amount for each CGU; 

 assessing and challenging management’s value-
in-use calculations against the requirements of 
AASB 136, by: 
- testing the mathematical accuracy of the 

calculations; 
- reviewing management’s calculation of the 

discount rate and involving our own expert to 
evaluate the reasonableness of the rate; 

- evaluating management’s ability to perform 
accurate estimates by reference to their 
previous gaming industry experience in Nepal 
and across Asia and to assess the Group’s 
past history of forecasting; 

- challenging the forecasted cash inflows and 
outflows to be derived by the CGUs or 
assets; and 

- performing sensitivity analysis on the 
significant inputs and assumptions made by 
management in preparing its calculation 
including discount rate, growth rate and 
terminal value; and 

 assessing the adequacy of related disclosures in 
the financial statements.  

Recoverability of Tiger 2 land deposit – Note 16  
The Group has paid a deposit of $3,130,000 for the 
right to purchase land intended for the future Tiger 
Two Project. This deposit is non-refundable and may 
be forfeited on 31 March 2018. 
 
As the asset represents a deposit for land it needs to 
be assessed as to whether it meets the definition of 
an asset. 
 
This area is a key audit matter due to the significant 
uncertainty around the future use and availability of 
the asset beyond 31 March 2018. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
 obtaining an understanding of the status of 

managements strategic plans for this asset; 
 reviewing the agreement to confirm that the 

payments represent a deposit; 
 challenging management’s ability to use the 

asset depending on the various options being 
considered by management; and 

 assessing the adequacy of related disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017, but does 
not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the Financial Report  
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 24 to 32 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 31 December 2017.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Silver Heritage Group Limited, for the year ended 31 
December 2017, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Responsibilities 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
N J Bradley 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 28 March 2018 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 13 March 2018. 

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITABLE SECURITIES

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 

Number 
of holders 

of ordinary 
shares

Number 
of holders 
of options 

over 
ordinary 

shares
1 to 1,000 5 -
1,001 to 5,000 25 -
5,001 to 10,000 42 -
10,001 to 100,000 108 -
100,001 and over 129 2 

309 2 
Holding less than a marketable parcel - -
 

EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Ordinary shares

 
 

Number held

% of total 
shares
issued

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 143,687,935 24.52 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 67,435,707 11.51 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 52,751,258 9.00 

BRISPOT NOMINEES PTY LTD (HOUSE HEAD NOMINEE A/C) 45,677,368 7.79 

UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 32,970,384 5.63 

CALM WATERS PARTNERSHIP 24,800,000 4.23 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 19,685,858 3.36 

CHAMP STAR LIMITED 9,410,000 1.61 

GZ FUND LLC 9,387,292 1.60 

JPOMA INVESTMENTS CORPORATION 8,400,000 1.43 

MR NICHOLAS BELL 8,000,000 1.37 

MR MATTHEW DYLAN HUNTER 7,544,407 1.29 

MR NICHOLAS BELL 7,444,639 1.27 

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD (IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP) 6,400,129 1.09 

MR TIMOTHY JOHN SHEPHERD 6,078,664 1.04 

MIKE LUKE DENEUVE BOLSOVER 5,471,161 0.93 

ADDAX HOLDINGS LIMITED 5,438,244 0.93 

SONBILLE INVESTMENT LIMITED 5,438,196 0.93 

MR MILTON LEONG 5,393,220 0.92 

VERILINK INVESTMENT LIMITED 5,275,488 0.90 

476,689,950 81.35 
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SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS  

Number of 
ordinary 
shares held

% of total 
ordinary 

shares issued

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 143,687,935 24.52 
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 67,435,707 11.51 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 52,751,258 9.00 
BRISPOT NOMINEES PTY LTD (HOUSE HEAD NOMINEE A/C) 45,677,368 7.79 
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 32,970,384 5.63 

342,522,652 58.45 
 

Unquoted equity securities

Number
on issue

Number
of holders

Options over ordinary shares issued 59,808,612 2 

Performance rights 9,333,333 1 

 

The following persons hold 20% or more of unquoted equity securities: 

Name Class Number held

OL Master (Singapore Fund) 1 Pte Limited Options over ordinary shares 41,995,946 

Orchard Landmark II (Singapore Fund 1) Pte Ltd Options over ordinary shares 17,812,666 

 

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 

Ordinary shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote. 

There are no other classes of equity securities. 

RESTRICTED SECURITIES 

Class Expiry date
Number 

of shares

Ordinary shares - Mandatory restricted 29 August 2018 8,250,610 

Ordinary shares - Voluntary escrow 29 August 2018 14,838,570 

Employee Ordinary shares - Voluntary escrow 29 August 2018* 391,276 

23,480,456 

 

* Employee Ordinary shares with restriction expiry dates dependent on expiry of first escrow period (being 29 August 2018) and loan to 
shareholder is either repaid or waived in full.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Directors David Green

Mike Bolsover

Richard Barker

Matthew Hunter

Robert Benussi (appointed on 7 August 2017) 

Hugh Holmes (resigned on 9 March 2017)
 

Company secretary Kim Clark
 

Registered office Level 12, 225 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Australia
Telephone: +852 2110 1684
Fax: + 852 8169 8066

 

Principal place of business 6/F The Phoenix, 23 Luard Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

 

Share register Boardroom Pty Limited
Level 12, 225 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 9290 9600

 

Auditor Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Level 17, 383 Kent Street
Sydney, NSW 1230
Australia

 

Solicitors DLA Piper Australia
Level 22, 1 Martin Place
Sydney, NSW 2000
Australia

 

Stock exchange listing Silver Heritage Group Limited (the ‘Company’) shares are listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: SVH)

 

Website www.silverheritage.com.au
 

Business objectives The Company has used cash and cash equivalents held at the time of listing, 
in a way consistent with its stated business objectives.

 

Corporate Governance Statement The corporate governance statement which is approved at the same time as 
the Annual Report can be found at: http://www.silverheritage.com.au/investor-
centre-new/corporate-governance
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